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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is with great pleasure that we present the 2021
Chairman’s report for The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c) (“nogaholding" or the
“Company")

First and foremost, we would like to express our sincere gratitude and respect to the wise
leadership of the country and extend our appreciation to His Majesty King Hamad bin Isa Al
Khalifa and His Royal Highness Prince Salman bin Hamad Al Khalifa, Crown Prince and Prime
Minister of the Kingdom of Bahrain, Chairman of the Higher Committee for Energy and Natural
Resources, who have been instrumental in inspiring and facilitating the nogaholding vision,
guiding the energy sector’s transformation, and enabling us to deliver sustainable returns.

The year 2021 saw the induction of new leadership at the Board and Operating Companies’
levels, heralding a change in direction for nogaholding that will see the Company through 2022
and beyond. With our appointment as Chairman of the Board of Directors by royai decree issued
by His Majesty King Hamad bin Isa Al Khalifa, we also integrated a new Group Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Mark Thomas, who brings with him a wealth of knowledge and decades of
experience from global energy giant, bp. The change in leadership has culminated in a new
vision for the Group. We are now embarking on an era of transformation from an oil and gas
company to a progressive and responsible energy player with a clear mandate to develop the
nation’s sustainable energy sources and stimulate economic growth and development in the
Kingdom of Bahrain.

Similar to the rest of the world, the Kingdom of Bahrain was affected by the adverse economic
impact of the global pandemic. In spite of that, the nogaholding portfolio companies have
remained resilient, delivering a strong yearly performance on the back of their ambitious growth
strategies and prudent risk management processes.

Some of the Group’s most noteworthy achievements in 2021 include:
* Completing 71.2 million project hours at the Bapco Modernization Program
* An overall reduction in Bapco Operating expenses; the result of a cost optimization
project that was initiated in 2020 with reported savings nearing $110 million to date
¢ Tatweer Petroleum maintained its production rates in 2021. A total of 9 new Khuff gas
wells and 198 new oil wells were drilled this year, bringing the total number of new wells
drilled since Tatweer Petroleum’s inception in 2010 to 1,510

¢ Banagas recorded a 65.62% revenue increase compared to 2020

In addition to our ongoing projects, nogaholding committed to multiple environmental initiatives
aligned with the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the National
Economic Vision 2030. In 2021, the Company supported and actively participated in the
‘Forever Green' initiative, launched by the National Initiative for Agricuitural Development
(NIAD), where we successfully planted over 5,000 trees in the Educational Zone in Isa Town.
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nogaholding also continued to play a vital role in promoting best industry practices, encouraging
operational excellence and benchmarking, risk management, business continuity management,
and business resilience within its portfolio companies. The Company has maintained its
performance over the past 12 months and, as such, the financial results have been well in line
with our stakeholder's expectations.

The comparative financial performance of nogaholding on a consolidated level has seen an
increase of 58% in revenues, from US$ 4,358 million in 2020 to US$ 6,894 million in 2021. Qur
net profits have also increased to US$ 464 miillion, driven by a favorable recovery in global crude
prices and nogaholding’s share of profits from associates and joint ventures.

The financial position of nogaholding on a consolidated level has witnessed an increase of US$
1,393 million in capital work in progress for the Bapco Modernization Program and Tatweer's
CAPEX program, while US$ 324 million was completed and transferred to Property, Plant &
Equipment.

On the financial level, nogaholding maintained its focus on maximizing its cashflows to ensure
continued equity distributions. We have set aggressive targets to reduce operating and capital
expenditures over the coming years, which have manifested into a significant reduction of US$
200 million in 2021 against the approved budget. The Company consistently evaluated
production runs at its refinery to ensure that cash margins are maximized.

Significant financial achievements for the year include:

* Upsizing the Murabaha facility from US$ 1.4 billion to US$ 1.6 billion in Q4 2021, and
subsequently launching the US$ 1.6 billion Murabaha Refinancing Project

s |Issuing new notes of the ‘Global Medium Term Note Program’ amounting to US$ 250
million. The new issuance is to be consolidated to form a single series with the existing
US$ 500 million 7.625% notes due in 2024

e Signing a Sales & Purchase Agreement (SPA) for the acquisition of 45% of Neste's
shares in Bahrain Lube Base Oil Company (BLBOC) with nogaholding and Bapco to
own 100%

» Issuing US$ 600 million 8-year Sukuk certificates due 2029 under the US$ 3 billion Trust
Certificate Issuance Program

» Closing of the refinancing and expansion of the Tawseah Term Loan facility from US$
515 million to US$ 650 million and successfully completing the Interest Rate Swap (IRS)
transaction for the Tawseah Term Loan facility

* Maintaining a B+ rating with a stable outlook by Fitch Ratings, despite oil prices and
global economic downturn

This year we are optimistic and look forward to leading the national energy transition hand-in-
hand with our #TeamBahrain peers. The shift from oil and gas to responsible energy is ushering
in a new era for the local energy sector and will shape the Kingdom's future in line with the
national transformation and economic recovery roadmap. We are excited to be at the forefront
of this seismic shift and ready to play a pioneering role in building a bright and sustainable future
for the Kingdom.
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We would also like to convey our heartfelt appreciation to the current management and
employees of nogaholding for their hard work and perseverance during a very challenging year.
Additionally, we would like to commend the Board of Directors for their diligence and foresight
in steering the Company through another successful year, and we look forward to jointly charting
the next phase of nogaholding’s growth and development.

Lastly, we would like to express our appreciation to the many organizations and entities that
make up #TeamBahrain. Their steadfast support, and the vital role they have played in moving
the energy sector's transformation forward, has been invaluable towards enhancing the
Kingdom’s positioning together with nogaholding.

As nogaholding charts its ambitious path in the coming years, we remain committed to
implementing a world-class standard of operation guided by a set of values that will underpin
the Company's trajectory. Our pricrity focus is to align our operating companies with our
strategic direction and work as a collective, with integrity, efficiency, transparency and an
innovative mindset, to realize the Kingdom’s energy goals.

g i
Nasser bin Hamad Al Khalifa
Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (Closed)
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Independent auditor’'s report to the shareholder of
The Oif and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Qur opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c) (the "“Company”} and
its subsidiaries (logether referred to as the “Group”) as at 31 December 2021, and ils consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reperting Standards.

What we have audited

The Group's consolidated financial statements comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

e the consclidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

¢ the notes to the consoclidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Basis for apinian

We conducled our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statementis section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion,

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accerdance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board of Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain. We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

Qverview —

Key audit matters - Accounting for oil and gas activities and relationship with the
government
- Carrying value of non-financial assets

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where
management made subjective judgements: for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all
of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the consolidated financial slatements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

PricewaterhouseCoopers ME Limited. Office no. 4701, Building no. 1459, Road no. 4626,
Block no. 346, PO, Box 60771, Manama/Sea Front, Kingdom of Bahrain, Floor 47 West Tower
Bahrain Financial Harbour, T +973 17 118800, F: +973 17 540556 www.pwc.com/me, CR no 47378
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholder of
The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢) (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement. were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Accounting for oil and gas activities and
refationship with the government

As descnibed in note 3 (jii} and note 13, the Our audit procedures included:

Group has varicus agreements in place

defining its relationships relating to the oiland - Evaluating, with the assistance of our internal
gas activities with its shareholder and the financial reporling experts, the accounting
Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain (the assessment process carried out by the
“Government”). These agreements result in Directors with respect to the Group’s oil and
various rights and obligations of the Group in gas activities. We obtained an understanding
relation to those activities, of, and assessed the various agreements in

place between the major parties and the
accounting memorandum prepared by
management, (supporied by legal
confirmations from the shareholder’s in-house
legal counsel and the Company's external
lawyer), in order to assess the conclusions

The Birectors exercise significant judgement
in assessing the relevant factors to determine
whether the Group acts as a principal or an
agent with respect to those oil and gas
activities under the various agreements.

The Directors have determined that for the reached by management and the Directors
following key activities the Group is acting as and the judgements applied by them as part of
principal or agent: this process includlng in recognising certain oil
- il and gas producing activities and gas assets, reg:gwal_ales from the
(principal); Government, liabilities, income and expenses,
- gas distribution services (agent), and in a particular way,
- petroleum exploration activities . _
{agent). - Assessing the appropriate application of the
principal versus agent accounting treatments
In reaching their conclusions, the Directors for different activities carried out by the Group
take into account various factors including not as mandated by the underlying agreements,
only the written signed agreements in place by the application of past precedents and
but also the precedents set by the past and based on confirmations of interpretation
present practical operation of those provided by the shareholder to the Directors.
agreements. This actual mode of operation of We examined the business rules between the
the agreements, with the mutual consent of all Group and the Government, based on which
the parties concerned has created, over time we were able to test the Directors’
constructive rights and obligations on the differentiation of the activities for which the
Group, resulting in the Group recognising Group acts as a principal and for those
certain oil and gas assets, receivables from activities for which it acts as an agent for the
the Government, liabilities, income and Government,

expenses, in a particular way.

- Assessing the appropriateness of the policies
applied by the Directors in the preparation of
the consclidated financial statements; and

We considered this as a key audit matter as it
is fundamental to the accounting treatments
applied by the Group in relation o assets,
liabilities, income and expenses included in

- A ing th f the di s
the consolidated financial statements. Gl Rl BT ST

made in the consolidated financial statements

Refer to note 3 (iii) for the significant around this matter.
accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholder of
The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c¢) (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Carrying value of non-financial assets

Management performs an assessment at each
reporting period-end to consider whether there
is any indication that items of non-financial
assets may be impaired.

When such friggers are identified, valuation
models are prepared to determine the
recoverable amounts for the relevant Cash
Generating Units ("CGUs"). management
ensures that assets are not carried at more
than their recoverable amounts.

Valuation models were prepared by the Group
as part of their 2021 impairment
considerations. These represented
value-in-use calculations based on discounted
cash flows, The key estimates and
assumptions underlying these models
included:

« Forecasl prices,

* Expected product volumes;

« Future operating and development costs;

» Terminal values; and

* Discount rates.

In all cases, the recoverable amounts so
computed were in excess of the carrying
values of the respective CGUs. As a result, no
impairment charges were recorded in the
consolidated financial statements.

We considered this to be a key audit matter
given the judgement involved in identifying
impairment triggers and the complexity
inherent in determining the recoverable
amounts based on value in use..

Refer to notes 3 (v) and 3 {vi} for the
significant accounting judgements, estimates
and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment.

Our audit procedures included:

Assessing the reasonableness of
management's considerations relating to
identifying impairment triggers,

Assessing the appropriateness of the assels
and liabilities allocated to CGUs;

Comparing a sample of forecast prices to
market data points;

Considering the consistency of certain
unobservable inputs such as expected
product velumes and future operating and
development costs with approved business
plans;

Evaluating and assessing the
reasonableness of the approach and inputs
used to determine the future cash flows;

Evaluating the reasonableness of discount
rates, with input from our internal valuation
experis, by cross-checking the underlying
assumptions against observable market data;

Sensilising key assumptions 1o assess the
potential impact on the recoverable amounts
of a range of possible outcomes; and

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures
made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholder of
The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c) (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Other information (continued)

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Chairman's Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon).

Qur opinion on the consclidated financial stalements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Bahrain
Commercial Companies Law number {21) of 2001, as amended (the "Commercial Companies Law"),
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the geing concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process,

Auditor's responsibilities far the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
stalements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an audilor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resuiting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control,

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures thal are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholder of
The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c) (continueq)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directars' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern,

e Evaluate the overall presentation. structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reascnably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
A} As required by the Commercial Companies Law, we report that:

i. the Company has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial
statements are in agreement therewith;
i. the financial information included in the Chairman’s Report is consistent with the consolidaled

financial statements;

iii. nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Company has, during
the year, breached any of the applicable provisions of the Commercial Companies Law or the
items of its Memorandum and Adticles of Association which would have a material adverse
effect on its aclivities for the year ended 31 December 2021 or its financial position as at that
date; and

iv. satisfactory explanations and information have been provided 1o us by the management in
response to all our requests.
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Independent auditor’'s report to the shareholder of
The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c) (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued)

B) As required by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism in its letter dated 30 January 2020
in respect of Article (8) of Section (2) of Chapter (1) of the Bahrain Corporate Governance Code,
we report that the Company:

i. has appointed a corporate governance officer; and
ii. has Board of Directors approved wntten guidance and procedures for corporate governance.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is John Malloy.

E‘ccwa:fér&w « Cogoors,

PricewaterhouseCoopers M.E Limited
Partner's registration number: 255
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

12 June 2022



The QOil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2021

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Capital work-in-progress

Right-of-use assels

Investments in associates and joint venture
Long-term assets

Restricted cash and bank balances

Due from a related party

Derivative financial instruments

Trade, other receivables and other assets

Current assets
Inventories

Trade, other receivables and other assets
Due from a related party

Derivative financial instruments

Cash and bank balances

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital

Capital adjustment account
Contribution from the shareholder
Sinking fund reserve

Statutory reserve

Cash flow hedge reserve
Accumulated deficit

Equity attributable to the shareholder of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Note

11
12
13
23
14

15
15

16
17

18

2021 2020
8D 000 BD ‘000
1,136,431 1,104,923
1,791,914 1,352,519
185,303 183,339
112,903 90,885
25,294 25,923
127,246 126,624
370,112 -
276 -
11,919 12,228
3,761,398 2,896,441
254,922 185,651
337,090 281,981
249,259 421,083
5,207 631
516,790 269,977
1,363,268 1,159,323
5,124,666 4,055,764
1,184,400 1,184,400
(421,609) (421,609)
438,913 438 913
160,125 160,125
334,219 334,219
(49,524) (127.601)
(183,000} (357,186)
1,463,524 1,211,261
6,104 5,390
1,469,628 1,216,651
—_
{ ! 3

H.H. Shaikh Nasser Bin Hamad Al Khalifa
Chairman of the Board of Directors

H.E. Shaikh Salman Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors

/-

Mark Thomas
roup Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 38 form par of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION {continued)

At 31 December 2021

Liabilities

Non-cusrent liabilities
Borrowings

Employees’ end of service benefits
Trade and other payables
Derivative financial instruments
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities

Current maturities of long-term borrowings
Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Dividend payable

Short term borrowings

Income taxes payable

Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

19
20
22
23
24

19
22
24
32
25
26
23

2021 2020
8D '000 8D '000
2,733,78% 1,970,214
20,978 20,403
21,347 21,348
48,711 117,702
157,446 155,653
2,982,271 2,285,320
18,073 11,232
513,819 384,956
35,719 31,221
56,400 56,400
44,938 67,764
2,703 1,129

115 1,091
672,767 553,793
3,655,038 2,839,113
5,124,666 4,055,764

F/Q‘Q“Q —

H.H. Shaikh Nasser Bin Hamad

Al Khalifa

Chairman of the Board of Directors

/A

H.E. Shaikh Salman Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors

The attached notes 1 to 38 form part of these consolidated financial stalements.

ark Thomas
Groyp Ch

ief Executive Officer
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note BD 000 BD 000
Revenue 27 2,599,130 1,643,413
Cost of materials 28 (2,007,428) (1,239,440)
Other income 29 188,781 136,791
Staff costs 30 (125,972) {(111,544)
Maintenance expenses {102,275) (102,431)
Impairment for doubtful trade
and other receivables 12 (29,666) (1,848)
Other expenses 30 (99,4186) {119,744)
Depreciation 5&7 {195,392) (194,081)
Operating profit 227,762 11,116
Finance income 31 2,863 4,219
Finance costs K| {79,123) (62,625)
Finance costs - net {76,260) (58,406)
Share of profit/(loss) from associates and joint venture - net 8 27,369 (57)
Profit/{loss) before income tax 178,871 (47,347)
Income tax expense 26 (3,703} (1,629)
Net profit/{loss) for the year 175,168 (48,976)
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 23 73,263 (77,238)
Share of gainf{loss} on cash flow hedge from an associate 8 4,814 (7,131)
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Actuarial gain/{loss) arising on defined
benefit retirement scheme 20 328 (42)
Share of actuarial loss from associates 8 (128) (37)
Total other comprehensive income/{loss) for the year 78,277 (84,448)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/{LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 253,445 (133,424)
. f__A'L_\
H.H. Shaikh Nasser 8in Hamad Al Khalifa H.E. Shaikh Salman Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chairman of the Audit Committee and Vice

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ut

¥
/ﬁark Thomas
Group Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 38 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note 8D 000 8D '000
Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Shareholder of the parent 173,986 (49,454)
Non-controlling interests 18 1,182 478
175,168 (48,976)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Shareholder of the parent 252,263 (133,902)
Non-controfling interests 18 1,182 478
253,445 (133,424)
H.H. Shaikh Nasser Bin Hamad Al Khalifa H.E. Shaikh Salman Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Audit Commitiee and Vice

Chairman of the Board of Directors

-

ari Thomas
Group Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 38 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note BD '000 8D 000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit/{loss) before tax for the year 178,871 (47.347)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment 5 154,540 149,568
Right-of-use assets 7 40,852 44,513
Finance income kY| (2,863) (4,219)
Finance costs 31 79,123 62,625
Share of {profit)loss from associates and joint venture - net 8 {27,369) 57
Property, plant and equipment and capital
waork-in-progress written-off 30 680 1,139
Provision for slow-moving inventories 11 30 1,883
Provision for doubtful trade and other receivables 12 29,666 1,848
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 20 3,791 2,719
Fair valuation gainf{loss) on derivatives, net {1,280) (351)
456,321 212,535
Working capital changes:
Inventories (69,581} 47,420
Trade and other receivables (89,267) 94,066
Net movements in amounts due from a related party 7,173 {5,026)
Trade and other payables 132,696 {84,813}
Retention payable - {1.856)
Net cash flows from operations 437,342 262,326
Employees' end of service benefits paid 20 (2,888) {3,668)
Income tax paid 26 {2,129) {1,919)
Net cash flows from operating aclivities 432,325 256,739
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (63,448) (154,070}
Additions to capital work-in-progress (501,939) {485,712)
Dividends received from associates 8 11,876 1,131
Movement in long-term assels 629 (1,505)
Movement in restricted cash {622) 724
Finance income received 1,024 2,465
Net cash flows used in investing activities {552,480) {636,967)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net mavements in amounts due from a related party {205,461) (161,966)
Proceeds from borrowings and short term borrowings 1,512,131 1,404,974
Repayment of borrowings (770,376) (911,255}
Finance and transaction costs paid (121,4086) {113,080}
Dividends paid 32 - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (468) {1.475)
Repayment of lease (47,452) {49,702}
Net cash flows from financing activities 366,968 167,496
NET INCREASEH{DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 246,813 {212,732}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 269,988 482,720
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 14 516,801 269,988

Non cash items:
1} Refer note 14 for details of non-cash items,

The attached notes 1 to 38 form part of these congolidated financial statements.
13
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

1 ACTIVITIES

The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c] (the "Company” or "Nogaholding” and along with its
subsidiaries, referred to as the "Group”) is a closed Bahraini Joint Stock Company incorporated by Royal
Decree number 77 of 2007 issued on 10 August 2007 and published in the Official Gazette on 16 August
2007 and is registered with the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism ("MOICT") under commercial
registration number 66088 obtained on 1 August 2007.

The Mational Oil and Gas Authority {Noga) was abolished with effect from 26 September 2021 and its
jurisdiction and authorities were divided between nogaholding, the Higher Committee for Energy and Natural
Resources {the “Higher Committee”} and the Ministry of Qil. According to Article {3) of Decree No. 99 of
2021, all allocations assigned to Noga in the general budget and all its rights and obligations shall be
assigned to the Ministry of Qil, Consequently, the Ministry of Qil has replaced Noga in agreements between
Noga and Nogaholding or Nogaholding's subsidiaries with effect from 26 September 2021. All rights and
obligations of Noga existing as of 26 September 2021, transferred to the Ministry of Oil with effect from that
date.

The supervision of the Group was referred from Noga to the Higher Committee. Additionally, the Kingdom of
Bahrain replaced Noga in its role as Nogaholding's shareholder. Separately, the authority to appoint
directors and representatives in Nogaholding's subsidiaries now lies with Nogaholding rather than Noga.

The structure of the Group, its operations, financial arrangements and cbligations otherwise remains
unchanged. The Government of Bahrain owned and still owns 100% of Nogaholding. Refer to Note 3 (iii) -
Principal vs agent considerations for key judgements relating to the oil and gas activities.

The Company was formed with the object of acquiring the Government's shareholding and stakes in various
entiies engaged in oil and gas activities with effect from 1 August 2007. Further, the objectives of the
Company include investing funds in areas specified by the Board of Directors, acquiring real estate and
movable properties required for carrying out its activities, establishing and participating in establishment of
new ventures and acquiring and participating in the ownership of existing ventures or companies and selling
its interests therein, within, and outside the Kingdom of Bahrain.

The postal address of the registered office of the Company is P.O. Box 1426, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.

The Group comprises of the Company and the following subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and joint
operations:
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021

1 ACTIVITIES (continued)
Country of

Name of the entity incorporation

Subsidiaries

The Bahrain Petroleum  Kingdom of

Company B.S.C. {c) Bahrain

("Bapco™}

Bahrain National Gas Kingdom of

Company B.S.C. (c) Bahrain

{"Banagas")

Bahrain National Gas Kingdom of

Expansion Company Bahrain

§.P.C. ("Banagas

Expansion®)

The Bahrain Aviation Kingdom of

Fueling Company Bahrain

B.S.C. {¢) ("Bafco™)

Tatweer Petroleum — Kingdom of

Bahrain Field Bahrain

Development Company

W.L.L. ("Tatweer"}

Bahrain Gasoline Kingdom of

Blending W.L.L. Bahrain

("BGB")

Ownership interest

2021

100%

75%

100%

60%

100%

85%

2020

100%

75%

100%

60%

100%

85%

17

Year end

31 December

31 December

31 December

31 December

31 December

31 December

Principal activity

Operating the Bahrain
Refinery and marketing of
refined petroleum products.

Processing and marketing
of hydrecarbon liquids from
associated gas.

Processing and marketing

of hydrocarbon liquids from
associated and refinery off
gas.

Managing and operating
the jet fuel pipeline.

Producing oil and gas from
Bahrain onshore field.

Sale and trade of solid,
liquid and gaseous fuels
and related products.



The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

1 ACTIVITIES (continued)

Country of Ownership interest
Name of the entity incorporation 2021 2020 Yearend  Principal activity

Subsidiaries {continued)
Saudi Bahrain Pipeline Kingdom of 100% 100% 31 December To own the Bahrain portion

Company S.P.C. Bahrain of the new oil pipeline
between Saudi Arabia and
Bahrain.

Aromatics Petchem Kingdom of 100% 100% 31 December Production of

Company W.L.L. Bahrain petrochemical grade

("Aromatics”) products from the
heavy Naphtha obtained

from the Bapco. Aromatics
is currently not active.

Bapco Retail Company  Kingdorn of 100% 100% 31 December Domestic sales of refined
$.P.C. {("Bapco Retail") Bahrain petroleum products in the
Kingdom of Bahrain.

Associates

Gulf Petrochemical Kingdom of 3% 33% 31 December Petrochemical processing
Industries Co. B.S.C. Bahrain and storage facilities.

{c) ("GPIC")

Bahrain LNG W.L.L. Kingdom of 30% 30% 31 December Manufactures gas and
("BLNG") Bahrain distributes gaseous fuel.
Arab Shipbuilding and Kingdom of 7% 37% 31 December Operate a dry dock and two
Repair Yard Co. BS.C. Bahrain floating docks to carry out
{c) ("Asry") shipbuilding, ship repair,

engineering and related
activities in dry dock,
floating docks, etc.

Joint venture

Trident Logistics Kingdom of 49% 49% 31 December Warehousing and storage.
Bahrain W.L.L. Bahrain Management consultancy
(“Schmidt”) - joint activities, Packaging
venture” activities.

Joint operations

Bahrain Lube Base Gil Kingdom of 55% 55% 31 December Manufacturing of lube
Company B.S.C. (¢) Bahrain based oil products.
("BLBCC")

BAC Jet Fuel Company  Kingdom of 50%, 50% 31 December Sale and trade of solid,
W.LL. (“BAC Jet) Bahrain liquid and gaseous fuels
and related products.

* Trident Logistics Bahrain Co W.L.L (Formerly Schmidt Logistics Bahrain W_.L.L) During 2021 Shmidt ME
Logistics Co W _L.L sold its 204 number of shares, 51% of ownership to Trident Warehouse Bahrain W.L.L.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors through a resclution dated
30 March 2022.




The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

1 ACTIVITIES (continued)

11 Bapco Modernization Program (BMP)

BMP is a major expansion and upgrade project of the Bahrain Refinery. BMP project consists of expansion
of the crude distillation capacity and upgrading of the refinery capabilities in order to increase the Bahrain
Refinery's competitiveness, improve the energy efficiency and enhance the environmental compliance to
international standards. In February 2018, the Group entered into an Engineering Procurement and
Construction (EPC) contract with a consortium of companies as its EPC contractors (hereinafter referred to
as "EPC contractors™). On 20 December 2018, the Group's fully owned subsidiary, Bapco, signed debt
financing facilities agreements {(hereinafter referred to as “project debt finance arrangement”) amounting to
US$ 4.1 billion which comprises covered exporl credit facilities, uncovered commercial and Islamic financing
facilities with a consortium of banks to support and fund the implementation of BMP project, Financial close
of the project debt finance arrangement happened on 9 May 2019,

As part of conditions precedent for the project debt finance arrangement. Bapco ceased its cash call
mechanism on the cut-off date and net balance due from the Government as of this date was set-off against
retained earnings. Subsequent to the approval by the Board of Directors a notification was sent to the
Ministry of Finance for the same.

1.2 Relationship with the Government

The Group has various agreements in place defining its relationship with its shareholder and the
Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain {"Government’} that result in various rights and obligations of the
Group. Refer to note 3 {iii) for further details of the principal vs agent considerations.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"} and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee
{IFRS IC} applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements comply with
IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in conformity with the Bahrain
Commercial Companies Law.

Guing concern

The Group's Board of Directors has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue the business for the foreseeable
future. Furthermore, the Board of Directors is not aware of any material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt about the Group's ability o continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial
statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
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The QOil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for
derivative financial instruments and investment at FVOCI which have been measured at fair value.

The consoclidated financial statements are presented in Bahraini Dinars ("BD"), being the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (BD' 000), except when otherwise
indicated.

New and amended standards and interpretations effective as of 1 January 2021
The Group's accounting policies are consistent with those of the previous financial year and the following
IASB's new and amended standards and interpretations which are effective as of 1 January 2021.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19 related rent concessions (effective from 1 June 2020)

As a resuit of the COVID-19 pandemic, rent concessions have been granted to lessees. Such concessions
might take a variety of forms, including payment holidays and deferral of lease payments. In May 2020, the
IASB made an amendment to IFRS 16 Leases which provides lessees with an option to treat qualifying rent
concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will
result in accounting for the concessions as variable lease payments in the period in which they are granted.

Entities applying the practical expedients must disclose this fact, whether the expedient has been applied lo
all qualifying rent concessions or, if not, information about the nature of the contracts to which it has been
applied, as well as the amount recognised in profit or loss ansing from the rent concessions.

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 - Interest rate benchmark reform

The amendments made to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and I1AS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide certain reliefs in relation to interest rate
benchmark reforms. The reliefs relate o hedge accounting and have the effect that the reforms should not
generally cause hedge accounting to lerminate. However, any hedge ineffectiveness should continue to be
recorded in profit or loss.

IBOR reforms and expectation of cessation of LIBOR will impact the Group's current risk management
strategy and possibly accounting for certain financial instruments used for hedging. The Group has the
following borrowings and hedging instruments which are exposed to the impact of LIBOR:

+ Bank borrowings: BD 1,407,228 thousand
+ Derwative financial instruments: BOD 527,800 thousand

The Group has not yet converted any of its hedging intruments from LIBOR to an alternative benchmark
rates as of the reporting date. The Group is assessing the impact to ensure a smooth transition from LIBOR
to new benchmark rates. The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting as a result of
the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows or
hedging relationships arising from the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative
benchmark rate. For more details. please refer to Note 35.

Standards issued but not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2021 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. Management is still
assessing the impact of these standards on the Group in the current and future reporting periods. These
standards and interpretations had been issued but were not mandatory for annual reporting pericds ending
on 31 December 2021.

- Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018~2020. and
- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities ansing from a Single Transaction — amendments to
1AS 12
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiarias as at 31 December 2021. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights held by the Group and other parties.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Censolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued}

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated stalement of financial position respectively. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary 10 ensure consistency with the policies adopled by the Group. Inter-company
transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

- derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

- recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- recognises any surplus or deficit in the profit or loss; and

- Reclassifies any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assels and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
current / non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when it is:

- Expected to be realised or intended to be soid or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

- Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current

A liability is classified as current when:

- Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

- Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current

22



The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measuremant

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumplion that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

a) In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
b} In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.

The Group uses specific valuation techniques to value derivative financial instruments. For interest rate
swaps - the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on cbservable yield curves are used.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
slatements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

a) Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

b) Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

c) Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial
staterments on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in
the hierarchy by re-assessing calegorisation {based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole} at the end of each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Property, plant and equipment related to oil and natural gas production activities are depreciated on a unit-of-
production basis over the proven developed reserves of the field concerned, except in the case of assets
whose useful life is shorter than the lifetime of the field, in which case the straight-line method is applied

Other property, plant and equipment are generally deprecrated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings 8 to 40 years
Qil and gas producing assets 510 15 years
Plant and machinery 6 to 20 years
Furniture and equipment 4 to 8 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 15 years
Hardware and software 3 to 5 years
Site work and aviation assets 10 years
Pipeline assels 40 years

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted
for separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is de-recognised
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. f any such indication exists and
where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-
end, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.

Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress represents capitalised expenditure incurred in setting up or constructing new
facilities or other assels. Depreciation on capital work-in-progress is not charged until such time as the
construction or set-up of these assets is completed and the asset is transferred to the respective category of
property, plant and equipment i.e. when the asset is ready for usage as intended by management.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a subslantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of the asset or group of the assets.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or jeint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the
entity, including any other unsecured long-lerm receivables. the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
NOTES TO THE CONSOQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The Group's investments in ils associale and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in associates or a joint venture is carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, plus post acquisilion changes in the Group's share of net assets of
the associate or a joint venture, less any impairment in value. Dividends received or receivable from
associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the share of results of
operations of the associates or a joint venture. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the
QCI of the associates or a joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this,
when applicable, in OCI. Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
the associates or joinl venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associates or joint
venture,

The reporting dates of the associates or joint venture and the Group are identical and the associates' or
joint venture's accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2 ‘Impairment of non-financial assets’.

Joint operations
Joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assels, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Group recognises its:

- Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

- Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointty;

- Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
- Share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

- Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Reimbursement of the costs of the operator of the joint arrangement

When the Group, acling as an operator or manager of a joint arrangement, receives reimbursement of direct
cosls recharged lo the joint arrangement, such recharges represent reimbursements of costs that the
operator incurred as an agent for the joint arrangement and therefore have no effect on the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Invantories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. This is further explained below:
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Inventories (continued)

Inventory categories Valuation basis

Refined finished products Valued at the cost of production. Cost of production consisting of
cost of purchased crude oil, an appropriate allocation of overheads
and refining expenses. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) method.

Work-in-process Valued at the cost of production. Cost of production consisting of
cost of purchased crude oil, an appropriate allocation of overheads
and refining expenses. Cost is determined using the average cost

method.
Raw material - crude oil Purchase cost on a weighted average basis.
Stored and materials Purchase cost on a weighted average basis.
Fully processed gas Cost of feed gas consumed, production labour and allocation of

fixed and variable production overheads based on normal level of
activity, on weighted average basis.

QOther inventories Purchase cost on a weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on
completion and disposal.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporling date whether there is an indication that an asset or a group of assets
- cash-generating unit ("CGU") may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's {CGU} fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down fo its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transaclions are
taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is
used.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed approved budgets and forecast calculations, which
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These
budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term
growth rate is calculated and applied to projected future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of conlinuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in profit or
loss.

An assessment is made at each reporting date whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group
estimaltes the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset
does nol exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enlity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.

i} Financial assets

a) Initial recognition

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The classification of debt instrument at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of financial
assets at FVTPL, trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus
transaction costs.

In order for a debt instrument to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred 1o as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument
level,

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
ordler to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both,

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place {regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Financial instruments {continued}

i) Financial assets {continued)

b) Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, all of the debt instruments of the Group, except for derivative
financial instruments, are classified in amortised cost category. The Group measures financial assets at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
paymentis of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIRY
effective profit rate (EPR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amertised cost includes trade, other receivables and other assets, long-term
assels, cash and bank balances and due from a related party.

c) Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

d) Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs for trade receivables. Therefore, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporling date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
Further disclosures relating to impairment of trade and other receivables are provided in note 12.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9.
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Financial instruments {continued)
ii} Financial liabilities

a) Initial recognition
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs.
The Groups's financial liabilities are:

(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into, and they are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument
and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

{ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities other than financial liabilities at FVTPL are classified as financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost. Such financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amorlised cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities at amortised cost mainly include trade
and other payables, borrowings, lease liabilities, dividend payable and shori-term borrowings. Financial
liabilities are disclosed separately from financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position
unless there is a right to offset.

Fees paid on the establishment of bank borrowings are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
untii the draw-down ocecurs. To the exient there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

b) Derecognition

A financial hability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an ewsting liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments {continued)

i} Financial liabilities {continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position if, and only if:

. there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts; and

- there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidaled statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in
hand, bank balances, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and short term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. Any restricted balances with banks are also excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the cbligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

- Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or
other variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the
contract {i.e., the 'underlying').

- It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investiment that is smaller than would be required
for other types of contracts expecled to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

- ltis settled at a future date.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

The Group enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps
and commodity derivatives. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the
derivative conlract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried
as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

All derivatives are measured at FVTPL except for when the derivative is designated and qualifies as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged determines the method of recognising the
resulting gain or loss.The group designates derivatives as hedges of a particular risk associated with the
cash flows of recognised liabilities. {cash flow hedges).

The Group documents, at the inceplion of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging
instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions, The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoeing basis,
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in
cash flows of hedged items.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects
profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or expense associated
with the related hedged item is reported.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that ime remains in equity and is recognised in
the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur (for example, the recognised hedged asset is disposed of}, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately reclassified to the profit or loss.

Employees’ end of service benefits

The Group makes contributions to the Social Insurance Organisation (SIO) scheme for its Bahraini
employees calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group's obligations are limited to
these contributions, which are expensed when due.

The Group also provides end of service benefits to its expatriate employees and certain Bahraini employees
in accordance with the Bahrain labour Law. The entitiement to these benefits i1s based upon the employees’
fina! salary and length of service. The expected costs of these benefils are accrued over the period of
employment. The carrying value of the employees' end of service benefits approximates its present value of
the abligation at the reporting.

The Group also operates two retirement plans for Bahraini employees and expatriates retired prior to
October 1976. The cost of providing benefits under the plans is determined separately for each plan using
the projected unit credit actuanat valuation method.

The Group also operates a defined benefil retirement scheme for its Bahraini employees, which requires
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. The cost of providing benefits under the defined
benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method
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Employees’ end of service benefits (continued)

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income, They
are included in retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Leases

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assels at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying assel is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assels

The Group applies the short-term Iease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered of
low value (i.e., below US§ 5,000). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs direclly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of the asset or group of the assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an enlity incurs in connection with the
berrowing of funds.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests in the resulls and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and financial position
respectively.
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Revenue recognition

The Group is engaged in the business of refining crude oil and selling of refined products both locally in the
Kingdom of Bahrain and in international markets and selling of processed gas and lube based oil in
international markets. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods are
transferred to the customer.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group assesses its revenue
arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acling as a principal or an agent. The
Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements except for agency
arrangement (as described in nole 2 (f) below). The revenue arrangements of the Group are described
below.

a} Oil revenues

International sales of refined petroleum products

Revenue from the international sale of petroleum products is recognised at a point in time upon the
satisfaction of performance obligations, which occurs when control transfers to the customer, which is
generally when the product is physically transferred into a vessel or tanker, Consequently the Group's
performance obligations are considered to relate only to the sale of petroleum product, with each barrel of il
equivalent considered to be a separate performance obligation under the contractual arrangements in place.
The products are sold based on market prices plus a margin as per the contractual arrangements. The final
quality testing of the product is also carried out prior to the loading and the acceptance happens at that point
in lime. Invoices are typically paid on 30 day terms.

Domestic sales of refined pelroleum products

Sales are recognised at a point in time upon the satisfaction of performance obligations, which occurs when
control transfers to the customer, usually on delivery of the goods. Rates for the domestic sales are notified
by the Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain and the prevailing market prices as applicable. The
transportation cost associated with the transfer of the product to the point of sale is recognised in cost of
materials.

b} Gas revenues
Gas revenue represents the sales made by Banagas and Banagas Expansion and are recognised when the
control of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods at prevailing market prices.

) Lube based ol revenues
Lube based oil revenues represents the Group's share of sales made by BLBOC and are recognised when
control of the goods is transferred to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods at prevailing market prices

d) interest / profit income
Interest / profit income is recognised on an effective interest method.

e} Other income
Other income is recognised on an accrual basis when income is earned.

f Principal vs agent considerations
The Group has assessed itself as an agent for the following arrangements:
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Revenue recognition {continued)

i) Sale of crude oil on behalf of the Government

The Group also sells crude oil in its capacity as agent on behalf of the Government in relation to the Abu
Saafa field. In such transactions the Group does not control the goods before they are transferred to
customers, and hence, is an agent in these contracts because it does not have the ability to direct the use of

the crude oil or obtain benefits from it. The Group charges a marketing fee on providing such services,
which is recognised in other income.

i) Service income

The Group has a service agreement to provide the following services to the Government or its customers on
its behalf:

- distribute gas to the end users and manage the gas distribution network;
- the procurement of LNG and the management; and

- carry out oil and gas exploration aclivities, on the Government's behalf, in the Bahrain field as
approved by the Government in advance.

The Group has concluded that it is acting as an agent in these arrangements. Accordingly, the Group
records revenue on net basis for such arrangements {note 3). The revenue is recorded over time as the
Group provides services and amounts are considered recoverable from the Government.

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to its customer, the Group determines
whether it is a principal or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its promise to the
customer. The Group is a principal and records revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised goods or
services before transferring them to the customer. However, if the Group's role is only to arrange for another
entily to provide the goods or services, the Group is an agent and records revenue at the net amount that it
retains for its agency services.

The above service income is included in other income.

Income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authority. The tax rate and tax law used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the country where the Group operates and generates taxable
income.

Value Added Tax ("VAT")

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated VAT, unless the VAT incurred is not
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of VAT
receivable or payable. The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included
in prepayments and advances or other payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Commilments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to,
the tax authority.

Foreign currencies

The Group's conselidated financial statemenis are presented in Bahraini Dinars ("BD"). Each enfity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items inciuded in the consolidated financial statements of
each entity are measured using the functional currency.
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Foreign currencies {continued)
Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at their respective functional currency spot rates at
the date the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the functional currency
spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are taken to profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates as al the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.
The gain or loss arising on retransiation of non-monetary items is treated in line with the recognition of gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translaticn differences on items whose fair vatue gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

Group companies

Upon consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Bahraini Dinars ("BD")
al the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in the
other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of exchange differences
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Governmant grant

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be received. Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systemalic basis over the periods in which the related costs towards which they are intended to
compensate are recognised as expenses.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimales could result in ouicomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

33



The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Judgements (continued}

(i Determining the lease term of conlracts with renewal and termination options — the Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered
by an opfion to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease coniracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant faclors that create an economic incentive for it to
exercise either the renewal or iermination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease
term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability
to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate. Management did not include the extension
options in those lease terms slipulating that the lease cannot be renewed without the consent of both
parties.

(ii) Joint arrangements

Judgement is required to determine when the Group has joint control over an arrangement, which requires
an assessment of the relevant aclivities and when the decisions in relation to those aclivities require
unanimous consent. The Group has delermined that the relevant aclivities for its joint arrangements are
those relating to the operating and capital decisions of the arrangement, including the approval of the annual
capital and operating expenditure work program and budget for the joint arrangement, and the approval of
chosen service providers for any major capital expenditure as required by the joint operating agreements
applicable to the entity’s joint arrangements. The considerations made in determining joint control are similar
to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

Judgement is also required to classify a joint arrangement. Classifying the arrangement requires the Group
to assess lheir rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. Specifically, the Group considers:

- the structure of the joint arrangement — whether it is structured through a separale vehicle;

- when the arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, the Group also considers the rights
and obligations arising from:

{a) the legal form of the separate vehicle; or
(b) the terms of the contractual arrangement.

- other facts and circumstances, considered on a case by case basis.

For joint control, judgment is applied when assessing whether the arrangement is jointly controlled by all of
its parlies or by a group of the parties by taking decisions about relevant activities through unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. For joint control, judgment is also applied as to whether the joint
arrangement is classified as a joint venture or joint operalion taking into account specific facts and
circumstances, such as the purpose and design of the arrangement, including with respect to its output, its
relationship to the parties and its source of cash flows.

This assessment often requires significant judgement. A different conclusion about both joint control and
whether the arrangement is a joint operation or a joint venture, may materially impact the accounting.

36



The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued}
Judgements (continued)

{iii} Principal vs agent considerations

The Group is party to a number of complex agreements with its shareholder and with the Government of
Bahrain in relation to its portfolio of oil and gas activities. Under these conltracts, the Group undertakes,
among other activities, exploration, appraisal, production, development and delivery of petroleum and
operation and maintenance of the gas distribution network on its own behalf or on behalf of the Government.

Where the Group is acting as a principal, it is able to recognise revenue based on the gross amount
received or receivable in respect of its performance under a sales contract. When the Group is acting as an
agent, it does not recognise revenue for any amounts received from a customer to be paid to the principal.
The Group considers its overall risk profile in determining whether it has a service agreement or a working
interest with respect to each of its respective functions.

Since the determination of whether the Group is acting as a principal or an agent is critical to the accounting
for the various transactions involved in a given activity the Directors and management therefore carefully
assess the substance of all transactions that meet the above mentioned criteria to determine in which
capacity the Group is acting. In making these assessments, the Directors and management consider the
following key criteria:

- if the Group is primarily responsible for delivering goods or services;
- if the Group does or does not have inventory risk;
- if the Group does or does not have latitude or discretion in establishing prices.

In addition, the Group takes into account the constructive rights and obligations established by the existing
contracls and past precedents created, by mutual agreement between the parties. In particular, the Group
seeks to determine whether it is responsible for the petrocleum operations or is acting as an agent for the
provision of petroleum services with respect to each of the functions. A further detailed assessment for each
of the key respective functions is outlined below:

a) Qil producing activilies

The Group considers itself to be the principal with respect to oil and gas preduction. The Group entered into
an agreement with the Government for supply of Bahrain crude oil with effect from 1 January 2005. Under
this agreement, the Government is contracted to supply Bahrain crude oil at a fixed price of US$ 1 per barrel
for a fixed quantity of 900,000 barrels per month as compared to the prevailing market prices {"Old
Arrangement”). On, and effective from, 22 October 2018, the Group entered into a revised Crude Oil Sale
Agreement (COSA) with the Government.

In accordance with COSA, the Group continued to receive a minimum monthly quantity of 900,000 barrels
up to 21 October 2018 under the Old Arrangement and from 22 October 2018 onward the Group started
receiving a minimum monthly quantity of 38,700 barrels per day at a rate of US$ 1 per barrel ("Baseline
Crude Quantity"). Bapco, the Company's principal subsidiary, has also entered into a Crude Qil Sale and
Purchase Agreement {COSPA) with Noga, Nogahelding and Tatweer effective from 1 January 2018 under
which, Bapco pays a production cost contribution of US$ 11 per barrel to Nogaholding on the Baseline
Crude Quantity, which is indexed by 2.5% on the 1st January each year. Any additional quantity is supplied
to Bapco at the prevailing market price., However, the market value of these additional quantities is not paid
to the Government, instead it is received by Nogaholding from Bapco and used against its own oil
production costs. Under the new arrangement, any cash amounts equal to the excess of income above
production cost of the Group are remitted to the Government. However the Group retains the substantive
right to the remitted cash, and therefore shows this as a receivable balance due from the Government.
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
Judgements {continued)

{iii) Principal vs agent considerations (continued)

a) Oif producing activities (continued)

The Group is alse responsible for the production of non-associated gas. In line with the underlying
agreements, the Group is able lo ulilise the produced gas on a first pricrity basis, free of cost for its
petroleum activities. The Directors and management have assessed that the Group is responsible for the
production and has control over the non-associated gas as determined by the respective agreements. The
recognition of revenue relating to non-associated gas also involves estimates in relation to values
attributable to performance obligations in accordance with various agreements between the Group and the
Government.

The Group accordingly recognised Oil and Gas producing assets as it has determined that it is a principal
with respect to oil and gas producing activiies, has the ability to direct the use of the assets and has the
rights to the resulling economic benefits of such activities.

b) Gas distribution services

The Group determined that it does not control the goods relating to Gas beyond the respeclive delivery
points specified in the respective agreement and it does not have the ability to direct the use of or obtain
benefits from the assets used in gas distribution services. Therefore, the Group has determined that it is an
agent for this function based on the following factors:

- The Group is not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified gas.

- The Group does not have invenlory risk before or after the specified gas has been transferred to the
customer as it merely supplies the gas in accordance with the end user agreements which are
approved by the Government.

- The Group has no discretion in establishing the price for gas. The Group's consideration in these
contracts is only based on an agreed percentage of mark-up on costs incurred by the Group for
provision of services to the Government.

¢) Petroleum Exploration aclivities

In relation to the petroleum exploration operations, the Group has determined that it is providing a service to
the Government in accordance with its existing contracts. The assessment has incorporated factors around
the risks and rewards from the exploration activities, which the Group has determined lie with the
Government. The Group has concluded that it transfers control over its services over time as the services
are provided and therefore considers itself as acting as an agent for this function.
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The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS {(continued)
Judgements (continued)

{iv) Consolidation

The determination of whether an investment in a company is accounted for as a subsidiary or investment in
associalefjoint venture requires significant judgement. The management considers various factors including
its economic ownership, representation in the respective board of directors or management of the investee
Company, the Group’s exposure, or rights to, variable returns from its involvement in an investee company.
its ability to use the power over the investee to affect its returns.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the fulure and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the date of
consolidated statement of financial position, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

{v) impairment of properly, plant and equipment

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an
eslimate of the assel's recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or
cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or Group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount,
the assel is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. The Directors do
not believe that there is any impairment of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020.

For oil and natural gas producing assels, expected future cash flows are estimated using management's
best estimate of future oil and gas prices and production and reserves volumes. The estimated future level
of production in all impairment tests is based on assumptions about future commodity prices, production and
development costs, field decline rates, and other factors. Reserves assumptions for value-in-use tests are
restricted to proved reserves which can be extracted at minimum level of future capital expenditure. The
Group acquires services of both internal and external technical expert / consuitants for the purposes of
assessing proven reserves who carry out their assessment based on internationally accepted guidelines and
best industry practices.

There are no reasonably possible changes in any of the key assumptions that would have resulted in an
impairment write-down.,

{vi} Estimation of oif and gas reserves

Significant technical and commercial judgements are required to determine the Group's estimated oil and
gas proved reserves. Reserves estimates are reviewed and updated on annual basis. Factors such as the
availability of geological and engineering data, reservoir pedormance data, drilling of new wells, and oil
prices all impact on the determination of the Group's estimates of its oil and gas proved reserves. The
Group bases its proved reserves eslimates on the requirement of reasonable certainty with rigorous
technical and commercial assessments based on conventional industry practice and internationally
accepted guidelines
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Estimates and assumptions {continued)

{vi) Estimation of oil and gas reserves (continued)

Estimates of oil and gas proved reserves determined by applying internationally accepted guidelines and
best industry praclices are used to calculate depreciation and amortisation charges for the Group’'s il and
gas producing assets. The impact of changes in estimated proved reserves is dealt with prospectively by
depgeciating / amortising the remaining carrying vaiue of the asset over the expected future production. Oil
and gas reserves estimates also have a direct impact on the assessment of the recoverability of asset
carrying values reported in the consolidated financial statements. If proved reserves estimates determined
by applying management's assumptions are revised downwards, earnings could be affected by changes in
depreciation and amortisation expense or an immediate write-down of the oil and gas producing asset's
carrying value.

Information on the carrying amounts of the Group's oil and gas producing assets is contained in Note 5.

(vii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Directors determine the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating
depreciation. This estimale is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear
and tear. Management reviews the residual values and useful lives annually and future depreciation charges
would be adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.

{viii}  Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete,
an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is
performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or
obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of
ageing or obsolescence, based on historical selling prices.

At 31 December 2021, gross inventories were BD 271,452 thousand (2020: 8D 201,871 thousand) against
which provisions for old and obsolete inventories made amounted te BD 16,530 thousand (2020: BD 16,220
thousand) (note 11).

{ix) Provision for impairment of financial assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for financial assets. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by customer
types).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical cbserved default rates. The Group calibrates
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information, For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e. inflation rate) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the
historical defauit rates are updated and changes to the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between histerical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customers actual default in future.

At 31 December 2021, gross trade receivables were 8D 346,379 thousand {2020: BD 239,816 thousand}
against which provisions for ECL made amounted to BD 31,822 thousand (2020: BD 29,212 thousand}
{note12).
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Estimates and assumptions {continued)

{x) Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation
techniques including the discounted cash flows model. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in
establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial
instruments.

(xi) Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate and extension period

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they
need to be adjusted to refiect the terms and conditions of the lease.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group used an IBR ranging between 5.5% - 6% on its leases. An increase or
decrease of 1% in IBR would result in a increase or decrease in finance costs on lease liabilities for the year
of BO 1,442 thousand {2020: BD 1,158 thousand).

(xii}  Interest rate benchmark reform

Following the financial crisis, the reform and replacement of benchmark interest rates such as US$ LIBOR
and other interbank offered rates ('IBORs’) has become a priority for global regulators. There is currently
uncertainty around the timing and precise nature of these changes. To transition existing contracts and
agreements thal reference US$ LIBOR to SOFR (secured overnight financing rate), adjustments for term
differences and credit differences might need to be applied to SOFR, to enable the two benchmark rales to
be economically equivalent on transition. The Group's treasury is managing the Group's US$ LIBOR
transition plan. The greatest change will be amendments to the contractual terms of the US$ LIBOR
referenced floaling-rate debt and the associated swap and the corresponding update of the hedge
designation. The changed reference rate is not expected to affect other systems, processes, risk and
valuation models, as well as having tax and accounting implications.

The Group has applied the following reliefs that were introduced by the amendments made to IFRS 9
Financial Instruments in September 2019:

« When considering the “highly probable’ requirement, the Group has assumed that the US$ LIBOR interest
rate on which the Group's hedged debt is based does not change as a result of IBOR reform,

+ In assessing whether the hedge is expected to be highly effective on a forward-looking basis the Group
has assumed that the US$ LIBOR interest rate on which the cash flows of the hedged debt and the interest
rate swap that hedges it are based is not altered by LIBOR reform.

= The Group has not recycled the cash flow hedge reserve relating to the period after the reforms are
expected to take effect.
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)
(xii)  Interest rate benchrnark reform

In calculating the change in fair value attributable lo the hedged risk of floating-rate debt, the Group has
made the following assumptions that reflect its current expectations:

* The floating-rate debt will move to SOFR during 2022 and the spread will be similar to the spread included
in the interest rate swap used as the hedging instrument.

+ No other changes to the terms of the floating-rate debt are anticipated.

+ The Group has incorporated the uncertainty over when the floating-rate debt will move to SOFR, the
resulting adjustment to the spread, and the other aspects of the reform that have not yet been finalised by
adding an additicnal spread to the discount rate used in the calculation.

4 CONTRIBUTION FROM THE SHAREHOLDER

During 2016, Ministry of Qil (formerly Noga) acquired 49% equity shares (representing 80% interest in
assets) of Tatweer, a limited liability company incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain, specialising in
production of oil and gas from onshore fields in the Kingdom of Bahrain. The Company made a payment
amounting to BD 58,248 thousand to the outgoing shareholders of Tatweer on behalf of the Government in
accordance with the cabinet resolution number 2324-05 dated 17 August 2015 and incentivisation
agreement dated 25 August 2015. The shares of Tatweer were transferred to the Company on behalf of the
Government and the regulatory formalities in connection with the changes in shareholding were completed
on 18 July 2016.

Subsequent to the acquisition of Tatweer by the Government, on 1 July 2016 Ministry of Qil (formerly Noga)
assigned on behalf of the Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain its 80% interest in the oil and gas
producing assets and related abandonment and restoration obligations of Tatweer to the Company.
Accordingly, on 1 July 2016, the Company recorded the cil and gas producing assets and related
abandonment and restoration obligations of Tatweer. Consequently, Tatweer became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

The Company has recorded the transfer of above assets over time after verification and appropriate
approvals from Ministry of Gil {formerly Noga)} as a contribution from the shareholder.

During 2018, the Company transferred abandonment and restoration obligations along with the related asset
in property, plant and equipment to Ministry of Qil (formerly Noga) resulting in a net increase in contribution
from shareholder by BD 91,509 thousand {Refer note 21 for details).

42



£

"3njeU anbiun s)1 o} anp pajeaidap 10U 22 YIIYM SWIBY WNISNW PO Wieiyeq Judsasdal sjasse JByIo .

[£3 2 1{ % SRS o ¥ 0.9 s62'tL 168} 0S¥'E 296'v0F £L0'60L  L29°0ES g6v'v8 1z 1Z0Z Jequadeq | W
:enjea BuwAnes joN
092'559'L - 088'y 6V6'6 0£6'6 98Pzl 8¥5'656 6¥0'8 S0E£'09S §95'06 - 120Z 13qwadeq LE IV
(62) e = e 62} = e = = - - HO-UaNUM SJOSSY
(¥£0'€) C e e (z21) (208) (8e5'2) e S @ e slesodsig
0¥5'pS1L C ¥z #L8 6eY (144 129'er 226'T 690'06 L96'% . Jeak 3yy 1oy abieyd
£EE'V0G'L S ral: 34 506 1846 0t'Z1L SOP'ELE ZZL's 9SZ +vav 009'68 G 120z Aenuer | 1y
‘uopeaeidep pejeinuwinaIody
161°264'2  +E1 965's ¥rZ'LL 195°LL 8E6°GL 0L5'¥9E'1 Z80'LLL  Z86060'L  E£90'SLL 12l LZ0Z Jaquiadag Lg IV
(64 = o s (64) = S - - - - NO-UBUM S)SSY
(z60'c) = S - (Lri) {98g) {055'2) S e (51) S sjesodsig
859221 = = = 520’} 16 09¢t'cr C BL2'SL £96'Z = {9 910u) s$2AB0Id-LI-HIOM
|eyden woy) siapsuel|
8rr'e9 s e 8E £52 £5. €0l s ZL5'1e 682 = Jeah ay) Buunp suolppy
95Z'609'z vl 955's 00Z'L1L £05'0L 08¥'sL 26S'€ZE'1 ZBO'LLL  ESZ'PSE 9zZE'LLL 1z 1z0z Aenuer | W
11509
000, 09 00o. ga 000, a8 000, ag 000, 09 oo0. ag 000, g9 000, a8 000, 09 ooo0.08 000, GF
je104 .,519ssp  S)asse EMYOS LETRITTEY] weawdinba  Assunyoews  spasse sjasse sBuipping  puey
1810 uoneinR ¢ pue J0100 pue pue jueld augjadig  Bunposd Rioyaslo
NIOM B} aJeMpIRH ainywng seb pue 1o 1T0Z 19quuedaq LE
LNIWJINDI ONV LNV1d ‘ALY3d0dd ]

1202 Jaquiadag Lg

SINIWALYLS TWVIONYNIJ A3L¥AJINOSNOD 3HL Ol S3LON

(0) "0's'g Auedwo) BuipioH SeS pue 10 3yl



‘3INjEU anbiIUN s) ) anp pajeRaidap 10U I8 YoIUM SWal Wnasny 10 uielyeq 1Wasaidal 51asse Jaulo .

£T6'YOL'L  ¥EL +88 LEL'T 992 ¥L0'¢ ZEV'OLY 096'LEL  566'68F oz2's8 (%41 0Z0Z Jequwedeq ¢ ¥
;anjea Buifues JoN
£CEP0S'L C Zi9'v 5L0'6 2848 or'zL SOF'ELE zzL's 962 vov 009's8 - 0202 12qwadaq Le v
(9s5) e s (51} es) gza) 0T C & - - HO-UBNUM S]asSY
266'92 9 (9) (2zP) LeL 98 rrl e (96¥'#L1}  {6E0'E) e SUOIRIYISSEPdY
896'6PL e r6l 068 (1) 86¢ 288°LF 126'2 128'L6 ¥60'G - 1e9A ay) Joy sbreyd
62€'82€" - vy 902'¢ LL6'6 zzLzL £66°022 5612 526'98% SPS'ER C 0zoz Aenuep | 1y
:uonessidep pajeinwnaoy
95Z'609'T  tEL 985'S 90z Hi £05°01 08¥'SL 246G'E2EL Z80°21L  LST'¥S6 gzeLLL 1zl 020Z 19qwa%3aq LE W
(€80't) e = 0z} (¥s1) (gzz) (rg9) = S = e Ho-uslum sjassy
Z66'92 ¥ 3 (€L} S8P'e (ze8'%) o LPO'ZE (8zz'c) S SUOHEIYISSERIY
9rL'oe - = BLL'L a9l 28t L1052 - - 995°6 C (g a10u) ssaboId-u-pIom
lended woyy siepsuer)
0.0'¥G1 = 1z ¥l C e 0Lt . 9zZ'ZS5) €L = JesA y) Buunp suoppy
LE6'26E'T  ¥EL Z8¥'S Z60°01 295'0L 8EL'CL 1Z¥Z0e'y 280'LLL  8.£'69L S16'v9L 1ZL 020z Aenuer | Iy
150D
000, a5 000, g8 000. 09 000, a9 000. a8 000. g9 000. 09 000, G8 000, 09 000. a8 000, a8
je01 Slasse  s)asse aIeMIjOS SajaIydA woawdinba  Assuyoety  S}oSSE s)as58E sBuipping pue}
2D uoneie § pue Jojop pue pue jueld aujjadrd  Bujonposd ployassd
oM ays  alempiey asmyuing seb pue §10 0Z02 19qi3Q LE
(penupuod) LNJWCINGI ANV LNY1d 'ALNIdOdd ]

1202 18quredaq LE

SINIWILVLS TVIONYNI4 G3LVANOSNOD FHL Ol S310N

(3) O'S g Auedwio) BUIp|OH SES pUe (10 oUL



The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
51 Depreciation charged to profit or loss
2021 2020
8D 000 BD '000
Depreciation relating to:
- Property, plant and equipment 154,540 149,568
- Right-of-use assets {note 7) 40,852 44,513
195,392 194,081
6 CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS
2021 2020
Note 8D 000 8D '000
At 1 January 1,352,519 907,846
Additions during the year 6.1 562,675 481,631
Transfer o property, plant and equipment 5 {122,658} (36,346)
Capital work-in-progress written-off (622) (612)
As at 31 December 1,791,914 1,352,519

6.1 This includes staff costs amounting to BD 13,459 thousand (2020: BD 12,752 thousand) and borrowing
costs amounting to BD 54,907 thousand (2020: BD 81,932 thousand) capitalised during the year. The
capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted
average interesl rate applicable to the entity's general borrowings during the year, in this case 5.35%
{2020 - 7.5%)

6.2 The amount of finance costs on lease liabilities capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to BD 7 thousand {2020: BD 39 thousand).

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

2021 2020

8D '000 BD '000

As at 1 January 183,339 124,224
Additions during the year 40,026 41,845
Remeasurement 2,928 61,921
Depreciation during the year* (40,990) (44,651)
As at 31 December 185,303 183,339

* Depreciation during the year includes BD 138 thousand (2020: BD 138 thousand) that has been capitalised in
capital work-in-progress.
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The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSQCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following amounts relaling to leases (net of

depreciation):

Compressors
Drilling rigs
Workover rigs
Others

As at 31 December

Depreciation charge of right of use assets

Compressors
Drilling rigs
Workover rigs
Others

As at 31 December
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2021 2020
8D 000 B0 000
96,445 110,674
57,747 32,515
30,032 37.861
1,079 2,289
185,303 183,339
2021 2020
BD 000 8D 000
14,229 15,677
17,263 17,541
7,829 9,683
1,669 1,750
40,990 44,651




The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

8 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE

8.1 Investment in Arab Shipbuilding and Repair Yard Co. B.5.C. (c)

On 24 QOctober 2019, the Government transferred its interest in Arab Shipbuilding and Repair Yard Co. B.S.C.
{c} ("Asry™), which was held by the Government through Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding B.S.C. (c¢) ("Mumtalakat'),
to the Company. As of the reporting date, the economic ownership of the Company in Asry is 36.96%. The
process of transferring the legal ownership to other shareholders is in progress as of the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements.

As the Company owns a 36.96% in Asry and has representation cn its board of directors, a judgement is
required on classificalion of this investment. As the Company's exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with Asry is limited to its current economic ownership, the management of the Company has
concluded that the Company oniy exercises significant influence over Asry, accordingly, has accounted for it as
an investment in an associate.

As part of debt restructuring of Asry, the Company has a constructive obligation to provide an interest free
shareholder toan. The Company's loan is up to an amount of BD 11.3 million (US$ 30 million). The
management is of the view that this shareholder loan will take priority over equity of Asry without any exposure
o variable returns,

8.2 Classification of carrying value of associates and joint venture in the consolidated statement of
financial position

2021 2020

BD 000 BD '000

Investment in associates and joint venture 112,903 90,885
112,903 90,885

The investment includes convertible loan of BD 33,512 thousand (2020: BD 31,578 thousand) for which
setilement is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future.

47



Ll

“TT'AN DN UIBJUEG 0} USAIB UEO| SIQILBAUCS B UO 8NP 1S8I8lul pesiiENded 4o (¥5L | QF 6402} PUESNOW 6E8 | OF JO JUNOWE UE SBPNIUI JeA By} Buunp SUCTIPPY ..
‘sajqeded Jayio

PUE GpEJ} JBPUN LMOYS US3Q SEU PUE $HOOY SU) LI PAPIOSSI UBS] SBY UDIYM SJEIR0SSE Ul IUSWISaAU 2yt Buipaaoxa $9550] JO &JeyS O) 8Np SIASSE 4O ADUSIOYap ) PRIRIR) SiuNowWe asey] .

59806 £06°ZLL . 661 0lt 0£5°69 Zis'on loe's z50'9 S61'8L §95°6Z Jaquiaoa(] |g le Ainba $3)e100sse Jo aleys
958'942 000°SPE 0r 656 685961 SEV'Zhe Lz L S8'9L 059'29 LET'58
(6Ly08) (289'92) (gze s} (855'5) (goroL) {0SZ'11) (20z'92)  (s1L'82) {Lgr'agl (orL'1e)
(o51'29e}  (oo0'ere) (28T 2) (901'T) oz} {LLe') (zeosy)  (gsi'zy) (zzg'sie)  (6L6°L0E) S2NIIGE! WBLNI-USN
250'22L [ ard: 1) 62L 1 §61°Z SOl vt z58've SEE'¥E LP'TE £98'LY 9£¢'ZS §19$SE JuaLND
6L£'209 192°285 z8z'9 828°s Ziz'esl 059'091 51198 6Z8'VS D42'94€ 095'59¢ $19$SE JUBLIND-UON

000. a8 0¢0. g 000, g 000. a8 000. 38 0oo. g8 000, gg 000. a8 00oo. ag 000, gg
0z0e [24i14 0202 24104 0e0e 1202 0202 [ 2414 0z0z 1474

“SMOJI0) S& SBM JagWada( Lt 18 Ainha SIBIOSSE JO AIeYS

$HR'06 £06'ZLL 861 oLr 0£5°69 z1L8'08 1989 250'9 g6L'8l 695°'SZ Jaquianag Lg Je asueleg
(e (az8'v1) o = GeL') (928°1)} C - - - SSIRID0SSE WOY PIAIBDR) SPUBPIAI]
(szz't) §50°T¢ vz (¥14 095 85142 (oze} {s0c} (goL'Ll SEE'Y Jeok ay) Joy {ssofl/euiodul
aasuaya.duwiod [e10) Jo aleys
(ga1’2) 989’y S S (/)] 8z} - S (iev'2) rLe'P Jeak By 10} (SSof)euoau
ansuayaldwod Jayio jo aeys
(L5) 698'LZ 824 (714 165 982'42 (0z6} (60¢) sZ (¥4} Jeaf ayy Joj (ssojayoud jo a18yg
rsLk 68 o S & s = e T 668'L 1234 BU) BuuNp UGNIPPY
LBV'LB S88'06 (2w} 668} LoL'e9 0£5°'59 182's 19¢€°9 LrL'pe §6.'81 Asenuep | e aoueleg
000, 09 000. a9 000. 08 000, G8 000, g 000. a8 000, 08 000. a8 000. g9 000, g8
0z02 1202 0Zoz 1zoz 0202 1202 0202 1202 0202 +20Z
TTM uesyeg {2} 0°sg "0 sarAsnpuY| .Ausy.,) (5) “TTM ONT uresjeg
sonsifoq yuapiiy RINUBY010d JIND "0'S°g '00 piej Hedoy
pue Bupungdiys gesy
| %6 |{ %EE EE I %96 °9E ] | %0€ | 1500 diysIaum)

'SMO[I0} $8 51 JeaA ay) Buunp sauniuaa iol pue $91RID0SSE W SiUSWISaAUI By} jo Junowe BuiAues ay) vl sjuawissop €8
(panuniuoa) IYNLNIA LNIOT ONY SILVIDOSSY Ni SLNIWLSIANI 8

L20g Jaquadag Lg
SINIFWILVLIS TVIONYNIA Q3 LYAINOSNOD 3HL L S310ON
{0) "0's'g Auedwo? buipjoH secy pue 10 ayL




6%

BPSOY £08'9¢ o 9L 80¥'ST SLL'ze vZZ'T z92' L16'ZL 0s¢'zL
(szz'l) SS0'ZE (R4 [¥F4 09s 854L'4Z (oes! (605} {so1'4) SE6'Y
{r00'p2) L¥9'L6 14 PSS 089'L cLr'Le (o6¥'2) (9c8) (589'cZ) osv'al
{188'e2) +¥99'51 S = (ZL! (rae) S = B2s'eg) ar0'sl
{gz1} 116'18 L6 P55 LY 158°18 {06¥'T) (9£8) v8 zov
{so0'0s) {ogr'ze} (cze) (692) {ose'21) (eep'sz) (81’64} (ppo's) (orL'ee) {rzL'sz)
S95'9 6ES'Y 852t 992"t SYE 088 L96'y £69°C s -
{zot'gz)  (eve'sct)  (epp! Err) (zge'zs) {z11'88) (rzgost  (600°L¥) (gse's) {szg'on)
z89'16L L15'682 - e v89°Lal Tr6'T6L oLF'Br PZL'9S §85'LY LSt oF
000, a9 000, 08 000, gg 000. ag 000, 9 000, g8 000.08 000, GE 000. g8 000, 08
0202 1202 0202 1202 0202 $202 0202 1202 0202 L2027

TIM () D58 0D Seusnpul  D'S'E 00 PIEA Jiedey .
wiesyeg soysiboT Juapu ) [BINLBYI0NB JND pue Bupingos qesy 1Tm DN uresyeg
{ d | WEE EE 1 4,96 9€ | [ %0E ]

SIS JAYID pue Elde)

JESA 81 1oy (S50))/eI00U! BarsuayBIdwoD
|10 Jo aueys sdnousy
1884 au) J0) (S50])/8WL0ow sasuayaIdwod eo)

1eak ay) Jo) (5S0|)/AwIoou aasuaYIdwod JBYID

Jeak ay) o (s50))AUOId

sasuadxg
AW IO
SIS JO 15070
BnueAsy

153U diysisumd

‘SMOJ[0) S8 S1 1BSA 8y} BuuNp SWOoU| BAISUSYSIAWIAD 1310 PUB SS0] 40 140Id JO JUSWSIBIS PESIBWLING SAINUSA IOl pUBR SSIRIDOSSE JO JJEUS v

{panuuod) 3YNLNIA LNIOr ONY SILVIDOSSY NI SLNIWLSIANI 8

1202 12quadag LE

SINIWILYLS TYIONYNIS O3LVAINOSNOD 3HL 01 S3LON

{3) '0's'g Auedwod BuIp|oH SeD pue |10 dY1



The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

9 LONG-TERM ASSETS
2021 2020
Note 8D 000 8D ‘600
Home ownership loans — non-current portion 9.1 20,855 21,495
Long-term staff ioans 9.1 4,192 4,181
investment at FVOCI 9.2 200 200
Other long-term assets 47 47
25,294 25,923
8.1 Home ownership loans and long-term staff loans represent amounts advanced to employees under different schemes

of the Group. The loans are sanctioned in accordance with the Group's policies and are repayable in monthly
instaliments over the period of the loans.

92 The Group holds non-centrolling interest 2.86% (2020: 2.86%) in the Bahrain International Golf Course Company. This
investment was irrevocably designated at FVOCI at the time of adoption of IFRS 9, as the Group considers the
investment to be strategic in nature

10 RESTRICTED CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2021 2020
BD '000 BD '000
Bank balances
- BAPCO expatriate employees' end of service benefits (note a) 14,161 13,539
- BMP Project (note b} 113,085 113,085
Restricted Bank balances 127,246 126,624

Note 'a’
These are held with Islamic and conventional banks in the Kingdom of Bahrain and include current accounts and fixed deposits
These bank balances are held in the name of “BAPCO Expatriate Employees' End of Service Benefils® in various currencies and is
fully funded by the Company and cannot be utilised for operations of the Company. Current account balances wih the banks are
non-interest bearing. Bank deposils earn inlerest / profit rates ranging between 2 90% to 4.1% (2020: between 3.2% 1o 4%) per
annum.

Note 'b’

This represents an account held with a bank oulside the Kingdom of Bahrain for BMP project and is restricted by the project debt
finance arrangement and cannot be utilized for routine operations of the Company except for specific items as mentioned in the
project debt finance arrangemenl. This account earns an interest at daily USD LIBOR minus 0.25% per annum {2020: daily USD
LIBOR minus 0.25% per annum). This deposit is required to be held till completion of the BMP project.

a0



The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢}

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021

1" INVENTORIES

Petroleum inventories:
Crude oil
Work-in-process
Refined finished products
Gasoline inventories

Gas inventories:
Processed gas

Lube inventories
Lube based oil

Materials and supplies inventories:

Refinery f production
Spares and materials

Less: provision for slow moving inventories for

- refinery / production
- spares and materials

The movements in provision for slow-moving inventories are as follows:

At 1 January
Charge for the year

At 31 December

51

2021 2020
8D 000 8D 000
21,807 16,877
54,706 46,614
78,352 49,128
2,476 2,117
157,341 114,736
6,868 2,872
6,095 1,562
24,974 24,565
76,174 58,136
101,148 82,701
(8,335) (7.95%)
{8,195) {8.269)
{16,530) (16,220)
84,618 66,481
254,922 185,651
2021 2020
BD 000 BD '000
16,220 14,237
310 1.983
16,530 16.220




The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021

12 TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

Trade receivables
Related parties {note 33a)
Others

Others

Other receivables

Due from Ministry of Gil (formerly Noga) (note 33a)
Advances te conlractors

Prepayments

Home ownership loans - current porlion

Short term deposits

Staff loans — current portion

Less: Proviston for ECL / impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables
- Non-current portion
- Current portion

2021 2020
8D 000 8D 000
52,357 60,157
265,613 179,659
317,970 239,816
28,490 27,399
32,134 22,765
11,367 16,168
14,570 15,315
1,389 1.572
1,545 B
366 386
89,861 83,605
(58,822) (29.212)
349,009 294,209
11,819 12,228
337,090 281,981
349,009 294,209

Trade receivables are generally on 30 days credit terms. Short term deposits are with banks and have a malurity

three months and less than a year.

The movements in the provision for ECL / impairment of trade and other receivables during the year were as follows

of greater than

2021 2020

BD 000 8D ‘000

At 1 January 29,212 27,364

Charge for the year 29,666 1,848

Other movement {56) -

At 31 December 58,822 29,242
As at 31 December, the ageing of not impaired trade and other receivables {net of ECL) is as follows:

Current Less than 61 to 90 91 to 180 181 to 365 Over

Total 60 days days days days 365 days

BD '000 BD 000 BD 000 8D '000 8D ‘000 80D '000 BD '000

2021 287,638 225,020 28,085 2,560 434 6,000 25,539

2020 238,003 190,576 13,445 2,706 8,616 7,406 15,254




The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES {continued)

A substantial porion of the Company's sales are to international customers and the majority of these receivables are secured by
letters of credit issued by reputable financial institutions. The loss rale for all receivables ranges from 0.08% to 100% (2020: 0.08%
to 100%) depending upon the ageing and type of counterparty of receivables.

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are denominated in both Bahraini Dinars and United States Dollars.
Amounts due from a related party are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment lerms.

13 DUE FROM A RELATED PARTY

During 2018, the Group entered into various agreements with the Government including COSA, COSPA, services agreement, gas
sale and purchase agreement (GASPA), elc. These mainly relate to the following:

S purchase of crude ol from the Government;
distribution of gas to the end users and managing of the gas distribution network. and
- carrying out oil and gas exploration activities, on behalf of the Government, etc.

During 2019, the Company has agreed a framework with the Government for cash receipts and payments mechanism with respect
to the above and certain additional items. Consequently, the Group has the following outstanding balances with the Government:

2021 2020
BD ‘000 80 '000
Receivable from the Government
Non-current portion 370,112 -
Current portion 249,711 421,535
Receivable from the Government 619,823 421,535
Payable to the Government (452) (452)
Due from a related party 619,371 421.083
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The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

13 DUE FROM A RELATED PARTY {continued)

Receivable balances arise due to following transactions:
a) Service income as explained in note 33 (c};
b) Amounts paid by the Company on behalf of the Government;
¢} Exploration costs paid by Nogaholding on behalf of the Government

d) Payments with respect to management of gas distribution network on behalf of the Government;

e} Amounts paid to the Government for:

i) sum of (A} production cost contribution relating to Baseline Crude Quantity and (B) fair market value
relating to excess quantity (over Baseline Crude Quantily) {less) actual production costs incurred by
Tatweer. In case of a shortfall, it is recovered from the Government and disclosed under payables

i) the fair market value {of the Baseline Crude Quantity and excess quaniity {over Baseline Crude
Quantity)) less payments made to the Government under COSA (at US$ 1 per barrel of oil for
Baseline Crude Quantity), produclion cosl contribution relating to Baseline Crude Quantity, fair market
value relating to excess quantily (over Baseiine Crude GQuantity), point ‘b above and any subsidies

provided by Bapce for local sales,

Payable balance arise due to following transaction

a) Purchase of crude oil at US$ 1 per per barrel of ail for Baseline Crude Quantity under COSA

The Group has classified the balances that are expecled lo be realised within 12 monihs from reporting period as current and
remaining balances as non current. The Group has assessed that these amounts are fully recoverable from the Government

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2021 2020
Note BD 000 BD '000
Current and call accounts
- BMP project related 72,968 19,025
- Others 141 262,732 180,354
Deposits with banks 14.2 180,811 70,180
Cash in transit 244 65
Cash on hand 46 364
Cash and cash equivalents 516,801 269,988
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (1) (11)
Cash and bank balances 516,790 269,977
141 Current and call accounts are held wilh reputable banks in the Kingdom of Bahrain and United Kingdom. These
balances are denominated in Bahraini Dinars and US Dollars.
14.2 As of 31 December 2021, short term deposits held with banks in the Kingdom of Bahrain earn interest at rates ranging

between 0.1 % and 2.1 % per annum and have original maturities of three months or less (2020: 1% and 2.55% per

annumy).
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The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES {continued)

14.3 The Group also holds a bank account on behalf of the Government amounting to USD 120,737 thousand as at 31
December 2020 which does not form part of cash and bank balances within the consolidated statement of financial

posilion.

Non-cash transaclions entered by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 are as follows.

Non-cash items

2021
8D 000

Transfer from capital-work-in-progress to property plant and equipment (notes 5 & 6)
Property, plant and equipment 122,658
Capital work-in-progress (122,658)
Finance cost capitalised (note 6}
Capital work-in-progress 55,042
Borrowings (55,035)
Lease liabillies 0]
Depreciation caplitalised (note 7)
Capital work-in-progress 138
Right-of-use assets {138)
Additions to right-of-use assets (notes 7 & 24)
Right-of-use assetls 40,026
Lease liabilities (40,026)
Remeasurament of right-of-use assets {notes 7 & 24)
Right-of-use assets 2,928
Lease liabilties 2,928
Offsetting related party balances (note 13}
Amounts due from the Government 619,823
Amounts due to the Government (452)
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2020
BD ‘000

36.346
{36.346)

57,991
(57.952)
(39)

138
(138)

41,845
{41,845)

61,921
(61,921}

421,535
(452)



The OQil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (¢)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

15 SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT
2021 2020
BD '000 BD ‘000
Share capital
Authorised:
1,619,400,000 shares of BD1 each
(2020: 1,619,400,000 shares of BD1 each) 1,619,400 1.619,400
issued and fully paid:
1,184,400,000 shares of BD1 each
(2020: 1.184,400,000 shares of BD1 each} 1,184,400 1,184,400

The entire capital is held by the Government of the Kingdom of 8ahrain.

Capital adjustment account

On formation of the Company, the capilal was issued as a consideration based on the value of the subsidiaries transferred. It was
noted that the legal capital issued was based on lhe gross assets of lhe subsidiaries, rather than the net assets transferred resulting
in recognition of additional intangible assels of BD 421,609 thousand {2020: BD 421,609 thousand) in the form of accounling
goodwill {as a balancing figure). This resulted in an overstatement of equity and gross assets by BD 421,609 thousand

On 13 December 2011, the Board of Directors passed a resolution to restate the consolidated financial slatements to reflect the true
position of equity and total assets. Accordingly, this resulted in creating a debit balance in equity in the favour of a capital adjusiment
account of BD 421,609 thousand {2020 BD 421,609 thousand) with a corresponding credit to goodwill. The debit balance may be
eliminated against issued capital on obtaining the requisite regulatory and shareholder approvals.

16 SINKING FUND RESERVE
2021 2020
BD ‘000 BD '000
At 1 January and 31 December 160,125 160,125

As required by the Amiri Decree number 42 of 1999, a sinking fund reserve has been created by Bapco through transfers from prior
years gross profils. The reserve is not available for distribution in the form of dividend and i1s to be utilised to:

(a) purchase malterials, machineries and facilities or for their repairs;

(b} cover any decrease in the value of Bapco's property, plant and equipment; and
(c) meel Bapco's obligations under the labour and social insurance laws

17 STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Company's Memorandum and Articles of Association. 10% of
the net profit for the year is 1o be transferred to a statutory reserve Such annual transfer ceases when the reserve balance has
reached 50% of the paid-up share capital. The statutory reserve cannol be ulilised for the purpose of distribution. excepl in such
circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law The Company has not made any transfers to statulory
reserve in the current year due to the overall accumulated losses position (on the basis that it has accumulated deficit balance as of
31 December 2020),




The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

18 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Financial information of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests are provided below:

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests

Country of Qwnership interest
Name incorporation 2021 2020
Kingdom of
Bahrain National Gas Company B.S.C. (c) ("Banagas”} Babhrain 25% 25%
Kingdom of
The Bahrain Aviation Fueling Company B.5.C. (c) ("Bafco”) Bahrain 40% 40%
Kingdom of
Bahrain Gasoline Blending W.L.L. {"BGB") Bahrain 15% 15%
Accumulated balances of non- Profit altocated to non-
controlling interesis conlrolling interests
2021 2020 2021 2020
BD' 000 8D’ 000 BD' 000 BD' 000
Banagas 5,660 4,957 1,153 467
Bafco 58 58 - -
BGB 402 ars 29 11
Total 6,120 5,390 1,182 478
The movements in the non-controlling interest during the year are as follows:
2021 2020
BD ‘006G 8D ‘000
At 1 January 5,390 6,387
Net profit and total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interest 1,182 478
Dividend paid by a subsidiary to non-controlling shareholders (468) (1.475)
6,104 5.390
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The Oil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

19 BORROWINGS
The details of the borrowings together with interest / profit and repayment terms are as follows:
2021 2020
Nole BD ‘000 80 '000
Murabaha facility 191 603,200 527,800
Listed term bonds 19.2
- first tranche 377,000 377,000
- second tranche 471,250 377,000
Commercial and Islamic facilities 19.3 455,936 193,640
BMPF project borrowings 19.4 1,018,423 685,788
2,925,809 2,161,228
less - unamortised transaction cost {172,947) (179,782)
At 31 December 2,752,862 1,981,446
Total borrowings 2,752,862 1,981,446
Less: Current maturities of long-term borrowings (19,073) (11,232)
Non-current portion 2,733,789 1,970,214
19.1 Nogaholding has a Murabaha Shari'a compliant Islamic facilities. In 2019, the Company entered into a new murabaha

192

facility arrangement with a consortium of banks through Gulf International Bank (B8.5.C.), acling as an agent, with a
facility limil of US$ 1,400 million {BD 528 million} at profit rates ranging from 2.25% to 2.65% plus 1, 3 or 6 months
LIBOR {2020: 2.25% lo 2.65% plus 1, 3 or 6 months LIBOR) depending upon respective murabaha transaction period
This facility was used to early setlle the old murabaha facility of 2018 which had profit rate of 2.25% plus 6 months
LIBOR. The new facilily is unsecured and full principal amount is payable as bullet payment on 25 October 2024, In Q4
2021, the facility was upsized to US$ 1,600 million on the same terms, and US$ 200 million was drawn.

During 2017, Nogaholding established a Global Medium Term Note pregramme {the "Programme”) for an amount of
US$ 3 billion on Euronext Dublin. On 18 October 2017, Nogaholding issued first tranche under the Programme, a 10
year bond carrying interest rate of 7.5% per annum and amounting to US$ 1 bilion under the Programme. The
principal amount is repayable as bullet payment on 18 October 2027.

On 7 November 2018, Nogaholding issued second tranche under the Programme, a 10 year bond carrying interest rate
of 8.375% per annum and amounting to US$ 500 million and a 6 year bond carrying interest rale of 7.625% per annum
and amounting to US$ 500 million. The principal amount is repayable as bullet payment on 7 November 2028 and 7
November 2024 respectively.

In Q1 2021, Nogaholding issued new notes of the Programme amounting to US$250m, and carrying an interest rate of
7.625%. The principal amount is repayable as a bullet payment in 2024 and the new issuance is to be consolidaled and
form a single series with the existing US$ 500m 7.625% notes due 2024 issued in 2018.

In Q2 2021, nogaholding issued US$ 600m 8-year Sukuk certificales due 2029 under the US$ 3bn Trust Certificate
Issuance Program, carrying an interest rate of 5.25%. A Sukuk s a financial instrument similar to a bond that complies
with islamic financing principles




The Qil and Gas Holding Company B.S.C. (c)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

19 BORROWINGS (continued)

19.3 As of 31 December 2019, the Group had an outstanding balance of US$ 476,375,000 (BD 179,117,000} against a long
term borrowing {commercial and Islamic facilities) with a facility limit of BD 193.6 million (US$ 515 million) denominated
in US$, from a consortium of international and local banks with Gulf Internaticnal Bank B.S.C., acling as the facility
agent.

The Group made one scheduled.payment on 30 June 2020 amounting to US$ 38,625,000 {BD 14,523,000} and tolat
outstanding balance of the facility then was US$ 437,750,000 {BD 16,459,400). On 26 Cctober 2020, the Group
concluded a refinancing arrangement with the consorlium of banks including 5 out of 7 existing facility participants and
2 new participanis a long term borrowing (commercial and Islamic facility) with facility Limit of BD 193.6 million (US$
515 million) dominated in US$. Gulf International Bank BSC acling as facility agent. The Loan is repayable in 19
installments first repayment starting from 30 June 2021 and final bullet repayment of BD 48,410 thousand or (US$
128,750 thousand) on 30 June 2030. The facility is not secured and non-recourse. Loan carries interest rate of 6
months Libor + 2.9% per annuum. In March 2021, the Company have drawn down a further approved loan amount of
BD 50.76M (USD 135 MM). The total facility amount is BD 244.4 MM (USD 650 MM).

19.4 Bapce embarked on the BMP project during 2018 which is a major expansion and upgrade project of the Bahrain
Refinery. In order to finance the BMP project Bapco signed debt financing facifities agreements (“project debt finance
arrangement”) on 20 December 2018 with an available financing facilities of US$ 4.1 billion. The financing facilities
comprise of covered export credit facilities and uncovered commercial and Islamic financing facilities with a consortium
of banks to support and fund the implementation of BMP project. These facililies can only be utilised for BMP project
related payments and include floating and fixed rate facility which carry interest of 6 month LIBOR + spread ranging
between 0.90% to 2.90% per annum and 4.04% per annum respectively {2020: 6 month LIBOR + spread ranging
between 0.90% to 2.90% per annum and 4.04% per annum respectively).

Transaction costs comprise of insurance premium, commitment fees, upfront fees and other fees that are paid by the
Company and are not recoverable. During 2021, the Company paid BD 5,822 thousand {(US$ 15,445 thousand) {2020
BD 11,549 thousand (US$ 30,638 thousand)] to the Facility Lenders and capitalised it on amortisation.

These loans are repayable in 25 semi-annual instalments with the first instalment payable at earlier of six months after
the actual project completion date or scheduled completion date of 31 December 2023

BMP financing contain certain requirements to meel cerain financial and non-financial covenants and there is no instance of non
compliance during the year and as al the reporting date. At 31 December 2021, the Company's undrawn commiited amount under
these facilities is BD 528,580 thousand {(US$ 1,402,254 thousand) [2020: BD 861,215 thousand (US$ 2,284,692 thousand).
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20 EMPLOYEES' END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
2021 2020
BD 000 BD 000
Expatriate employees’ leaving indemnity (note 'a’) 18,066 16,689
Bahraini pension plan 145 148
Pound sterling annuity plan 3 41
Defined benefit retirement scheme {note 'b"} 2,736 3,525
20,978 20.403
al Expatriate employees’ leaving indemnity
2021 2620
BD 000 8D '000
At 1 January 16,689 17,565
Charge for he year 3,443 2,225
Paid during the year {2,066) {3,101)
At 31 December 18,066 16,689
The number of expatriate employees as al 31 December 2021 was 802 (2020: 828).
b) Defined benefit ratirement scheme
2021 2020
BD 000 8D ‘000
At 1 January 3,525 3,604
Current service cost 139 175
Past service cost 22 61
Interest costs - net 187 210
Payments made during the year (809) (567)
Acluarial loss (328) 42
At 31 December 2,736 3,525

Banagas operates a defined benefit retirement scheme for ils Bahraini employees. The retirement scheme is valued by an
independent actuary every year using the projected unit cost method. As per actuarial valuation, an actuarial loss of BD 328
thousand (2020 loss of BD 42 thousand) has been recognised in (accumulated deficit)/retained earnings through OCI for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020

c) Contribution to social insurance organisation {SI0)
Pension rights and other social benefits for Bahraini employees are covered by the SIO scheme to which the employer and
employees contribute monthly at a fixed-percentage of salaries.

21 ABANDONMENT AND RESTORATION OBLIGATIONS

Prior to 1 January 2018, in accordance with the Development and Production Sharing Agreement {"DPSA"}, the Group recognised
the fair value of a liability for an abandonment and restoration obligations in the pericd in which the liability is incurred and becomes
reasonably eslimable to dismantle lhe assel and reclaim or remediate the property at the end of its useful life. As per terms of
DPSA, the Group was required to make paymenis to the abandonment fund of Noga in future. On 21 February 2019, Noga
terminated DPSA with effect from 1 January 2018 and thereby no payments are required to be made 1o Noga to fund the Group's
obligation 1o abandonment fund. Subsequent to termination of DPSA, the Group is no longer liable for abandonment or restoration
obligations and these liabilities have been taken over by Noga, being the shareholder of the Company.
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21

ABANDONMENT AND RESTORATION OBLIGATIONS {continued)

Subsequent to termination of DPSA and Noga taking over the related restoration obligations. the Group has transferred the
abandonment and restoration obligations along with the corresponding asset in the property, plant and equipment to its shareholder.
Noga, resulting in a net increase in contribution from shareholder by BD 91,509 thousand during the year ended 31 December 2018.

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2021 2020
Nole BD ‘000 8o '000
Trade payables 216,111 154,109
HAccruals and cther payables 204,063 143,082
Payable to contractors 65,283 66,304
Due to the Government 221833 24,208 22,749
Interest payable on borrowings 21,671 16.823
Advance from customers 3,830 3,237
535,166 406,304

Trade and other payables

- Non-current portion 21,347 21.348
Current portion 513,819 384,956
535,166 406,304

Trade payables are normally settled within 30 days of the suppliers’ invoice date.

221

The Group had deferred product gas payments relating to the operations of Banagas' operations with effect from 1 July
2016, in accordance with a resolution of the Board Of Directors "BOD" of Banagas. These product gas charges were
deferred till 31 October 2018 (hereinafter referred to as "deferred product gas charges”) and amounted to BD 20,901
thousand as of that date. On 22 October 2018, the Group received a letter no 225/2018 from Noga to pay the product
gas charges on revised formula with effect from 1 November 2018. Accordingly, the Group started making payments
for product gas charges from November 2018 onwards on revised formula

Since, the revised formula was effective prospectively from 1 November 2018, the Group decided to make 24 monthly
payments of BD 726 thousand each starling from May 2019 against a total payment of BD 17,434 thousand, out of its
total liability against deferred product gas charges till 31 October 2018 of BD 20,901 thousand, calculated based on
revised formula. it further resolved that the mechanism for payment of remaining amount of BD 3,468 thousand will be
agreed with Gas Pricing Committee once these monthly installments have been paid in full This payment arrangement
has been discussed and agreed by the Group with the Gas Pricing Committee.

Accordingly, the Group has paid an amount of BD 5,811 thousand in 8 monthly installments as of December 2019
against deferred product gas charges. In December 2019, the Group approached Minisiry of Oil (formerly Noga),
through the Product Gas Pricing Committee to reschedule the monthly installments to 40 monthly installments of BD
290 thousand each for deferred product gas charges aggregating to BD 11,622 thousand. The Group approved this
rescheduled repayment installments with effect from January 2020. Such rescheduling arrangement has also been
agreed by Ministry of Oil (formerly Noga). During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made 2 monthly
installments of BD 290 thousand for the deferred product gas charges. However, the Group stopped making these
monthly payments from March 2020 in order to support its liquidity as a result of Covid-19 impact on sales value
Ministry of Qil {formerly Noga) has allowed the Group to cease these payments until further notice.
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

221 In accordance with the terms & conditions of bank borrowings obtained in 2017, Product Gas for CGP-li & Fuel Gas for
CGP-IIl from 1 January 2017 were subordinated. Furthermore, as a precondition of the bank borrowing, Ministry of Qil
(formerly Noga) also waived off product gas charges for CGP-lIl for the duration of the loan. Under the financing
conditions (Note 19 - Commercial and islamic financing}, subordinaled amounts can only be paid after ensuring that
the Company has surplus cash available afier taking into account the repayments of the next 6 months, 2 months
working capital, and will be able to meet all the loan covenanis after making such payments of subordinated gas
charges.

Ministry of Qil {formerly Noga) has continued to implement the subordination of product gas charges for CGP || and
fuel gas charges for CGP Il following the restructuring of the bank borrowings.

23 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group does not engage in proprietary trading activities in derivatives. However, the Group enters into certain derivative
transactions to hedge economic risks under its nsk management guidelines. Where derivatives do not meet the hedging criteria,
they are classified fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for accounting purposes. Consequently, gains or losses resulting from
the remeasurement to fair value of lhese derivatives are taken directly to the profil or loss.

The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management
process involves managing the Group's exposure to fluctuations in interest rates (interest rate risk} through entering inlo interest
rate swaps {IRS) It is the Group's policy to reduce its exposure to interest rate risks lo acceplable levels as determined by the
Board of Directors. The Board of Direclors has established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the inlerest rate gaps for
stipulated periods. Interest rate gaps are reviewed on an ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to reduce the inlerest rate gaps
to within the limits established by the Board of Directors

The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risk managed using derivalive
instruments is interest rate risk. The Company has entered into interest rate swaps {IRS) to hedge its risk associated with interest
rate fluctuations. These IRSs are designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges for designated hedged items (i.e.
designated portion of iis bank borrowings). There is an economic relationship between the designated hedged items and the
hedging instruments as the terms of the IRS match with the terms of the bank borrowings (i.e., notional amount and expected
payment dates). The Company aims to set the hedging ratio at 100% by matching the notional of the designated hedged items to
the notional amount of the corresponding IRS used as the hedging instruments. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Company uses
a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods. The Company uses crilical terms matching methed as qualitative test. and
regression analysis / dollar offset methods as quantitative test under which it compares the changes in the fair value of the hedging
instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks.

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments together with the notional amounts
outstanding as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. The nolional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset,
reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounis
indicate the volume of iransactions outstanding at the year-end but are neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk.

At 31 December 2021 At 31 December 2020
Notional Positive fair Notional  Posilive fair
amount value amount value
Current BD 000 8D 000 BD ‘000 BD 000
Derivatives under FVTPL
Commodity derivatives - 2,238 - 631
Interest rate swaps 758,147 2,969 527,800 -
Non-current
Derivatives held as cash flow hedge
Interest rate swaps - 276 - -
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23 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2021 At 31 December 2020
Negative
Notional  Negative fair Notional fair
amount value amount value
BD '000 8D ‘000 BD '000 80 ‘000
Current
Derivatives under FVTPL
Commodity derivatives - 38 = 368
Interest rate swaps 527,800 77 180,960 723
527,800 115 180,960 1,091
Non-current
Derivatives held as cash flow hedge
Interest rate swaps 1,004,428 48,711 836,828 117,702

The above commodity derivatives have been entered into by the Group for the purpose of hedging its oil price risk, however, these
have been classified as held for trading.

Commadity denvatives are in the form of fulures and options traded on a recognised exchange such as the International Petroleum
Exchange or the New York Mercantile Exchange. The fair value of these derivatives changes wilh movements in the underlying
commodity price. The Group is generally obliged to make margin calls to the exchange where the fair value of the instrument is in
favour of the exchange. The Group generally closes out any fulures confracts prior to crystallisation.

At 31 December 2021, if the closing price for each of the Group's exchange-lraded commodity derivalives had been 1 US Dollar per
metric barrel lower with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been lower by BD 6 thousand.

The above interest rale swaps have been entered into by the Group in order to hedge the interest payments on its floating rate
borrowings. These have been classified as cash flow hedges by the Group. The interest rate swaps which did not meet qualifying
crileria for hedge accounting have been classified as held for trading. During the year, the Group has entered into a derivative
agreement 1o extend the current hedge term and is effective from 2022 onwards.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments resulted in the following fair value gains and losses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020
BD 000 8D ‘000
Recognised in the profit or loss
- Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges {note 30.2) (509) 127
- Realised and unrealised (loss)/gain on derivative transactions (net)
{note 30.2) (1,960) 3,722
Recognised in other comnprehensive income
- Loss on cash flow hedges 73,263 (77,238)
- Share of gain/{loss} on cash flow hedge from an associate 4,814 (7,131)

Hedge effectiveness
Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective effectiveness
assessments, to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument.
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24 LEASE LIABILITIES

The movement in the lease liabilities during the year is as follows:

2021 2020
8D 000 BD 000
As at 1 January 186,874 123,916
Additions during the year 40,026 41,845
Remeasurement 2,928 61,921
Finance cost for the year* 10,789 8,894
Payments during the year {47,452) (49,702)
As at 31 December 193,165 186,874
Current 35,719 31,221
Non-current 157,446 155,653
As at 31 December 193,165 186,874

* Finance cost for the year includes an amount of BD 7 thousand (2020: BD 21 thousand) capilalised in capital work-in-progress.

25 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
2021 2020
8D 000 BD '000
Short term loans 44,938 67.764

Bapco has obtained short term loans to meet its working capital requirements. These loans are repayable within one year of the
draw down. These carry interest rate of 1 month LIBOR/ BIBOR plus margin ranging from 0.75% to 2.50% per annum (2020: 1
month LIBOR/ BIBOR plus margin ranging from 0.75% to 2.50% per annum). As of 31 December 2021, the Group's undrawn
commitied amount under these facilities is BD 103,661 thousand (2020: 111 360 thousand).

26 INCOME TAXES PAYABLE

Banagas pays income taxes on il net profit in accordance with the Arlicle 2 of the Bahrain Income Tax Law

Movemenits in income tax payable during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

8D '000 BD '000

At 1 January 1,129 1.419
Charge for the year 3,703 1.629
Payments made during the year {2,129) {1.919)
At 31 December 2,703 1,129
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26 INCOME TAXES PAYABLE (continued)

During the year, an amount of BD 3,703 thousand (2020: BD 1,629 thousand) income tax has been provided as Banagas has
earned profit. Income tax at a rate of 46% (2020: 46%) of the profit was provided during the year. Other enbities within the Group are
not subject to the same laxes which are applicable on entities with foreign shareholders.

There is no difference between the taxable profit and accounting profit for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020, hence no reconciliation is required between taxable profit and accounting profit

No deferred tax has been recognised as there is no difference between the tax base and accounting base.
7 SALES

2021 2020
BD 000 BD '000

Oil revenues
- International sales 2,198,647 1.291,703
- Domestic sales 202,258 224,793

2,400,905 1,516,496

2021 2020
BD '000 8D 000

Gas revenues
- Naphtha 75477 43,977
- Propane 23,932 20,576
- Butane 25,835 20,928
125,244 85,482
Lube based oil revenues 72,981 41,435

2,599,130 1,643,413

Revenue from contracts with customers is measured at a transaction price agreed under the contract and the payment is due within
30 days from the invoice date depending on specific terms of the coniract.

The Group does not expect o have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the
customner and paymeni by the cuslomer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does nol adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

28 COST OF MATERIALS
2021 2020
BD ‘000 BD '000

Cost of crude ol consumed

- Saudi Arabia 1,786,940 1,046,586
- Bahrain 5,324 5,039
Cosl of feed gas consumed 33,880 22,272
Production overheads 17,922 15,402
Movement in petroleum inventories (46,478) 57,014
Purchase of gasoline 209,840 93,127
2,007,428 1,239,440
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29 OTHER INCOME

2021 2020

Note BD 000 BD 000

Income relating to non-associated gas * a3 141,357 83,126
Service income from Ministry of Qil (formerly Noga) 33 6,158 5,573
Supply and services 5,666 5,623
Marketing fees - Abu Saafa 13433 4,110 4,104
Berihing and unberthing charges 3,513 2,915
Medical services 2,699 2,801
Awali facilities 1,378 1,535
Misceltaneous income 291 23,900 31,114
188,781 136,791

- Based on the new arrangement with the Government in 2019, the Group has concluded that it is acting as principal

wilh respect lo production of non-associated gas and has recognised the amounts received from lhe Government as
other income.

291 During the year ended 31 December 2021, the amount included BD Nil thousand relating to government grants (2020
12,136).

30 STAFF COSTS AND OTHER EXPENSES

30.1 Staff costs

The employees union of Bapco had filed a legal case with respect to payments of overtime claiming thal the overtime has to be
calculated based on total wages instead of Bapco's practice of paying overtime based on basic salary. During the year, the court
decided the case in favour of the employees. Based on the legal opinion, the management has revised the estimated maximum
liability to be BD 20,605 thousand relating o years from 2012 to 2019 and this amount has been included in staff costs. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the management provided addilional pravisions amounting 1o BD 1,615 thousand. The Group is
pursuing this case through further legal appeals and the management expects to make payments only when all the legal possibilities
are exhausled.

30.2 Other expenses
2021 2020
Nole 8D '060 8D '000
Materials and services® 43,784 45,075
Other operating expenses 46,158 73.498
Property, plant and equipment and
capital work-in-progress written-off 586 622 1,139
Miscellaneous expenses 6,383 3,881
Realised and unrealised {loss)/gain on
comrnadily derivative transactions (net) 1,960 (3,722)
Ineffectiveness on derivalive instruments designated
as cash flow hedges 23 509 (127)
99,416 119,744

*Materials and services consists of primarily spare parts and services costs.
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31 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

311 Finance Income

Interest income on loan to associate
Interest income on deposits

Nz Finance Costs

Finance costs on borrowings and short term borrowings
Finance costs on lease labililies

Others

less. capitalised finance costs {note 6)

Interest on borrowings and short term borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities (note 24)
Others

32 DIVIDEND PAYABLE

Dunng 2021, no dividend was declared and paid (during 2020, no dividend was declared and paid)

2021 2020
8D '000 BD ‘000
1,839 1,754
1,024 2,465
2,863 4,219
2021 2020
8D 000 80 000
122,264 135,051
10,789 8,894
984 651
(54,914) {81.971)
79,123 62,625
2021 2020
8D ‘000 8D ‘000
67,366 53,119
10,773 8,855
984 651
79,123 62,625

Dividend payable represenis unpaid dividend of BD 56.400 thousand declared in 2016 refating to the year 2015

a3 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

A related party i1s a party which directly. or indirectly through one or more intermediaries:

conirols the Group or has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group;

is a joint venture in which the Group is a venture;
S is @ member of the key management personnel of the Group
- is director of the Group or any close member of the family of any direclor:. and

S is an entily that is controlled or significantly influenced by, or significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly

or indirectly, the Group

Key management personnel are those persons having autherity and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the

activities of the Group. direclly or indirectly, including the directors of the Group.

A summary of the related party balances and transactions is as foliows:
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33 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)
a) Balances with related parties

Note
Due from a refaled parly
Ultimale owner
Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain

Trade receivables
Ministry of Qil (formerly Noga)
Affiliates
Others

Others
Ministry of Qil {formerly Noga) 12
Associates / joint venture
Gulf Petrochemical Industries Co. B.S.C. {c)
Others

Joint operation
Bahrain Lube Base Oil Company B.S.C. (c)

Amounlis due lo related parties
Ultimate owner
Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain 22

Joint Operalions
Bahrain Lube Base Qil Company B.S.C. (c)
Others

b) Significant related party transactions

Amount due from a related party:
Balance as at 1 January
- Net movement in amounts paid to the Government
- Net movement in exploration costs paid on behalf of the Government
- Net movement in paymenls with respect to gas distribution network
- Net movement in amounis paid to the government from oil aclivities

Balance as al 31 December

Fee income recewed from the Government
- Marketing fees - Abu Saafa 33(c)& 29

- Service income 33(c)&29

2021 2020
8D ‘000 BD ‘000
619,371 421,083
3,711 20.025
43,646 40,132
52,357 60,157
32,134 22,765
45 118
5,768 7,942
4,481 4613
24,208 22,749
55 567
2021 2020
BOD 000 8D 000
421,083 254,001
205,461 161,966
26,022 28,777
1,276 (265)
(34,471) (23,486)
619,371 421,083
4,110 4,104
6,158 5,573
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES {continued)
b) Significant related party transactions (continued)
2021 2020
Note 8D ‘000 80 ‘000
- Miscelleaneous income 15,058 16.246
- Income relating to non-associated gas 29 141,357 83.126
Associates / Joinf Venture
Gulf Petrochemical Industries Co. B.S.C. {¢)
- Domestic sales 45 39
- Other income 114 112
Cthers
- International sales 19,219 10,499
c) Services as an agent

The Group has entered into various agreements with the Government to carry out the following aclivities on behall of the
Government for which the Group charges an agreed fee / mark-up;

Sale of crude oil from Abu Saafa field.

3 Distribute gas to the end users and manage the gas distribution network.

- Carry out oil and gas exploration activities, on the Government's behalf, in the Bahrain field as approved by the
Government in advance.

The Group also manages the collection accounts on behalf of the Government with respect to above gas distnibulion network

Expenses on behalf of NOGA (Agent expenses) 2021 2020
8D 000 B0 ‘000

Operating expenses 2,507 2673
Capital projects and development cosls 18,815 B8.442
21,322 11,115

The Group invoiced the corporate customers on behalf of Ministry of Qil {formerly Naga} for GDS sales at an amount of BD 600,050
thousand (2020: BD 711,644),

d) Compensation of key management personnel
2021 2020
BD ‘000 BD 000
Directors’ remuneration 439 243
Compensation of other key management personnel 4,522 3,595
4,961 3,838
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34 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital commitments

2021 2020

BD 000 BD ‘000

Nogaholding 8,219 23,858
Bapco 387,541 702,170
Banagas 2,330 1,485
Banagas expansion 923 age
Tatweer 3.016 1,828
402,029 730,229

Others

The Group has provided a financial guarantee in the form of letter of credit through a financial institution for an associate amounting
to BD 1,658 thousand with a maturity date of 28 February 2021. For all capital commitments pertaining to the Group's investment in
associates and joint ventures, refer to note 8.4

As part of certain agreements, a contingent liability of BD 39,516 (2020: BD 41,895) is to be paid to the supplier if the agreement is
cancelled by the Group before the end of the agreed term.

The Group has conlingent assets and liabilities concerning certain disputed matters, including claims by and against contractors and
lawsuils and arbitrations involving various issues. These contingencies arise in the ordinary course of business. it is nol anticipaled
that any material adjustments will result from these contingencies.

35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial liabilities, other than derivalives, comprise borrowings, lease liabilities, dividend payable, short term
borrowings, retention payable and a certain portion of trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group has a certain porlion of trade and other receivables, long-term assets, due from a
related party and cash and bank balances which are derived direclly from ils operations. The Group also enters inlo derivative
transactions. The Group's accounting policies in refation to derivatives are set out in note 2,

The Group is exposed to market risk (including interest / profit rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk

The Group's management oversees the management of these risks. The management advises on the financial risks and an
appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group. The management also ensures that financial risks are identified,
measured and managed in accordance with the Group's policies and risk appetite, It is the Group's policy thal no trading in
derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

Market risk

Interest / profil rate risk

Interest f profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial insirument will fluctuate because of changes in
markel interest / profit rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest / profit rates relates primarily to the
Group's borrowings with floating interest / profit rates and interest/profit bearing assets
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Market risk (continued)

intarast / profit rate risk {continued)
The Group reviews the market analysis and expectations for inlerest / profit rale movements as the basis on which the Group
decides to ulilise floating or fixed rates for its interest / profit bearing liabilities.

The Group enters into interest rate swaps o hedge its risk of interest rale fluctuations for floating rate borrowings. As part of the nisk
management structure, the hedge relationships are recommended by management and approved by the Board of Directors The
effectiveness of hedges is monitored monthly by the Group. In situations of ineffectiveness, management recommends appropnate
aclion to the Board of Directors for mitigation of risks.

The sensitivity of lhe profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest / profit rates on the Group's results for one year,
based on the floating rate liabilities held at 31 December.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest / profit rates. For floaling rate assets |
liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of assets / liabilities outstanding at 31 December were outstanding for the
whole year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting inlerest / profit rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest / profit rates.

The following table demonstrate the sensilivity of the profit or loss to possible changes in the interest / profit rates on borrowings,
with all other variables held consistent.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates on bank borrowings and derivative financial instruments at the
reporting date would have increased (decreased) profil or loss by the amounis shown below. This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.

Bahraini Dinars

2021 2020

BD 000 BD ‘000

Variable-rate instruments (10,184) (6,858}
Interest rate swaps 8,453 5,602
Cash flow sensitivity (net} {1,731) {1,166)
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest / profit rate risk (continued)

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rales at the reporting date would have increased (decreased)
stalement of changes in equity by BD 92,289 thousand (2020: BD 103,951 thousand).

Swaps currentiy in place cover approximately 91% (2020: 83%) of the variable loan principal outstanding. The fixed interest rales of
the swaps range between 0.3% and 1.25% (2020: 1% and 2.5%), and the variable rates of the loans are between 0.2% and
0.5%.The seltlement dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt

Effects of hedge accounting on the financial position and performance
The effects of the interest rate swaps on the Group’s consolidated financial position and performance are as follows:

Bahraini Dinars

2021 2020
BD '000 80 000
Carrying amount (non-current liabilities) 48,711 117,702
Notional amount 1,004,428 836,828
Maturity date 2035 2035
Hedge ratio 1:0.99 1:0.83
Change in fair value of outstanding hedging instruments since 1 January (68,991) 76,355
Change in value of hedged item used to determine hedge effectiveness 69,499 (76,482)
Weighted average hedged rale for the year 2.10% 2.10%

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates

The Group's financial instruments are mainly denominated in US Dollars and Bahraini Dinars. As the Babraini Dinar is pegged to the
US Dollar, balances in Bahraini Dinars are not considered to represent significant currency risk

Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk 1s the risk that fulure profitability is affected by changes in crude and refined product prices at various
commodity exchanges. The Group is exposed to commodity price risk as its selling prices are based on market prices. However the
Group does not hedge againsl fluctuations in market prices for future sales commiiments.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES {continued)

Market risk (continued)
Commodily price risk (continued)

Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risk

(i) Overview

A fundamental reform of major inlerest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates (IBORs) with alternalive nearly risk-free rates (referred to as '|BOR reform’). The Group has exposures to IBORs on its
financial instruments that will be replaced or reformed as part of these markel-wide initiatives. The Group anticipates that IBOR
reform will impact its risk management and hedge accounting.

(i) Derivatives

The Group holds interest rate swaps for risk management purposes which are designated in cash flow hedging relationships. The
interest rate swaps have floating legs that are indexed to doliar LIBOR, The Group's derivaiive instruments are governed by
conlracts based on the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA)’s master agreements.

{iii) Hedge accounling

The Group has evaluated the extent to which its cash flow hedging relaticnships are subject to uncerlainty driven by IBOR reform
The Group’s hedged items and hedging instruments continue to be indexed to dollar LIBOR. These benchmark rates are quoted
each day and the IBOR cash flows are exchanged with counterparties as usual.

However, the Group's cash flow hedging relationships extend beyond the anticipated cessation date for dollar LIBOR. The Group
expects that dollar LIBOR will be discontinued after the end of 30 June 2023. The preferred altermnative reference rate will likely be
overnight or term SOFR. However, there is uncertainty about when and how replacement may occur with respect to the relevant
hedged items and hedging instruments. Such uncertainty may impact the hedging relationship. Nonetheless, the Group is working
on LIBOR transition and aims to effect this prior to LIBOR cessation.

The Group has measured its hedging instruments indexed 1o dollar LIBOR using available quoted market rates for LIBOR-based
instruments of the same tenor and similar maturity and has measured the cumulative change in the present value of hedged cash
flows atiributable to changes in dollar LIBOR on a simitar basis.

The Group's exposure to dollar LIBOR designated in hedging relationships is BD 1,004,428 thousand (2020: BD 836,828 thousand)
nominal amount at 31 December 2021, representing bolh the nominal amount of the hedging interest rate swap and the principal
amount of the hedged dollar-denominated secured bank loan liability maturing in April 2035.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customers contract, leading lo a
financial loss.

The Group is exposed 1o credit risk on its bank balances, long-term assets. trade and other receivables and amount due from a
related party.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk {(continued)

Bank balances are placed with reputable banks having good credit ratings. The Group manages credil risk wilth respect to
receivables from customers by oblaining advances, letlers of credit, by granting credit terms and by menitoring the exposure to
customers on an ongoing basis. At 31 December 2021, the Group has 5 customers that accounted for approximalely 53% (2020
36%) of all irade receivables excluding those receivables from a related party.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporiing date using a provision matrix to measure ECL.

The maximum credit risk exposure at 31 December 2021 is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets shown in the
consolidaled statement of financial position, which are net of provisicns for impairment and write-offs.

Amounts due from a relaled party represents amounts due from the Government of Kingdom of Bahrain and it relates to
transactions arising in the normal course of business. The credit risk on amounts due from a related party and other receivables are
perceived to be minimal by the Group. Derivative contracts are entered inlo with counter padies with good credit ratings and are not
subject to significant credit risk.

Bank deposits and term deposils are limited to high-credit-quality financial institutions ranging between A1 and B2 based on
Moody's ratings.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk, also referred lo as funding risk, is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated wilh financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at or
close to its fair value.

The Group manages ils liquidity by mainlaining a balance between continuity of funds and flexibility through the use of borrowings.
The Group's terms of sales normally require the amounts to be paid within 30 days of the date of sales. Trade payables are normally
settled within 30 days from the date of receipt of the supplier's invoice

The table below summarises the maturities of the Group's undiscounted financial liabililies at 31 December, based on contractual
payment dates and current market interest / profit rates. For balances due within 12 months, the undiscounting values approximate
their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant

Less than 3 Jto12 More than §
months months 1 to 5 years years Total
31 December 2021 BD ‘000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000
Trade payables 210,863 4,194 - 10,325 225,382
Payables to contractors 70,708 - - - 70,708
Accrual and other payables 56,962 - - - 56,962
Due to Government
of the Kingdom of Bahrain 9,523 2,615 17 11,005 23,160
Interest payable on borrowings 4,362 - - - 4,362
Short term borrowings 37,695 27,432 323,150 - 388,277
Borrowings - 139,343 171,661 1,409,114 1,720,119
Dividend payable 56,400 - 1,526,699 - 1,583,099
Lease liabilities 25877 11,519 206,286 394,241 637,823
Derivative financial instruments 18,477 21,998 8,274 48,711 97,460
Total 490,868 207,102 2,236,087 1,873,396 4,807,453
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued}
Liquidity risk (continued)
Less than 3 Jto12 More than 5
months months 1 to 5 years years Total
31 December 2020 8D '000 BD 060 BD 000 BD ‘000
Trade payables 147,263 6,846 - - 154,109
Payables to contraclors 66,304 - - - 66,304
Accrual and other payables 143,082 - - - 143,082
Due to Government
of the Kingdom of Bahrain 452 - 11,604 10,693 22,749
Interest payable on borrowings - 16,823 - - 16,823
Short term borrowings 67,764 - - - 67,764
Borrowings S 169,309 2,694,803 128,211 2,982,323
Dividend payable 56,400 - - - 56,400
Lease liabililies 11,722 74,581 81,052 52,823 220,178
Derivative financial instruments - 17.151 72,894 29,930 119,975
Total 492,987 274,710 2.860,353 221,657 3.849,707
Changes in liabilities arising from As at As at
financing activities 1January  Cash flows Cash flows 31 December
2021 payments receipts Others* 2021
2021 BD 000 8D 000 BD 000 BD ‘600 8D ‘000
Lease liabilities 186,874 {47,452) - 53,743 193,165
Short term borrowings 67,764 {755,712) 732,886 - 44,938
Borrowings 2,161,228 (187,611) 779,245 - 2,752,862
Derivatives 119,975 - - (71,149) 48,826
2,535,841 (990,775} 1,512,131 {17,406) 3,039,7H
Changes in liabilities arising from financing As al As al
aclivities 1 January Cash flows Cash flows 31 Dacember
2020 payments receipls Others* 2020
2020 BD '000 BD ‘000 B0 000 BD 000 BD 000
Lease liabilities 123,916 {49,702} - 112,660 186,874
Short term borrowings 26,388 {732,138} 773,514 - 67,764
Borrowings 1,708,885 (179,117} 631,460 - 2,161,228
Derivatives 41916 - - 78,059 119,975
1.901,105 (960.957) 1,404,974 190,71¢ 2,535,841

* Other changes include accrued interest expenses and fair value changes which will be presented as operating cash flows in the
cansolidated statement of cash flows when paid.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a heallhy capital base in order to support its
business and maximise the shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure ang makes adjustments Lo it in light of changes in business conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to the sharehclder. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

Equity attributable io the shareholder of the parenl comprises share capilal, capital adjustment account, confribution from the
shareholder, sinking fund reserve, slatutory reserve, cash flow hedge reserve and accumulated deficit and is measured at BD
1,463,524 thousand (2020: BD 1,211,261 thousand).

The Board of Directors is responsible to set out risk management policies and guidelines.

Summary of net debt:
This section sets out an analysis of net debt:

Bahraini Dinars

2021 2020

8D 000 BD 000

Cash and bank balances 516,790 269.977
Borrowings 2,752,862 1,981 446
Short-term borrowings 44 938 67.764
Lease liabililies 193,278 186,874
Derivative liabilities 48,827 118,793
Net debi 3,556,695 2,624,854
Cash and liquid investments 516,790 269,977
Gross debt - fixed interest rates 2,752,862 1.981,446
Gross debt - variable interest rales 238,216 254,638
Derivative financial instrumenis — variable to fixed interest rates 48,827 118,793
Net debt 3,556,695 2,624,854

36 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments comprise financial assets, financial liabilities and derivative finangial instrumenis.
Financial assets consist of cash and bank balances, long-term assets. trade and other receivables, amounts due from a related

party and derivatives. Financial liabilities consist of trade and other payables, borrowings, short term borrowings, dividend payable,
lease liabilities and derivatives
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38 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

As al 31 December 2021, the Group’s derivalive financial instruments, consisting of inlerest rate swaps and commodity derivalives
are measured at fair value. These are level 1 and 2 as per the hierarchy mentioned in note 2 for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020 as shown below:

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
Date of markels inputs inputs
valuation {Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BD '000 BD 600 BD '000 BD ‘000 8D 000
Asset
Darivative financial 31 December 2021 5,207 - - 5,207
instruments 31 Decernber 2020 631 - - 631
Liability
Derivative financial 31 December 2021 116 48,711 - 48,827
insfruments 31 December 2020 1,091 117,702 - 118,793

Transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3
During the reporting year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measuremenis.

Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value
The fair value of financial instrumenls which are nol carried at fair value are not materially different from their carrying value.

a7 OPERATING SEGMENT

The Group's senior execulive management comprising of the Chief Executive and senior management (heads of deparimenis)
examine the Group's performance based on the performance of its subsidiaries and affiliales and their activilies. The Group has
identified following three cperating segments of its business

- Oil based assels ang revenues: this represents Tatweer, Bapco and Bapco Retail which are operating the Bahrain Oil
Field and Bahrain Refinery and marketing of refined petroleum products

- Gas based assels and revenues: this comprises of Banagas and Banagas Expansion which are involved in processing
and marketing of hydrocarbon liquids from associated and refinery off gas.

- Others: this comprises of remaining part of the Group.

All of the Group's assets and operalions are located in the Kingdom of Bahrain.
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37 OPERATING SEGMENT (continued)

The Group's senior executive management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the
purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on net profit or loss and is measured consistently with net profit or loss in the consalidated financial

statements.

31 December 2021

Sales
Cost of materials

Other income

Staff costs

Maintenance and other expenses

Impairment for doubtful trade
and other receivables

Other expenses

Depreciation

Finance income

Finance costs

Share of profit from associates

(Loss)profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Net {loss)/profit for the year

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

As at 31 December 2021

Other disclosures

Investment in associates
and joint venture

Provisian for doubtful trade and
other receivables

Oil based Gas based
assets and assets and
revenues revenues Others Eliminations Total
BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000
2,473,474 125,244 412 - 2,599,130
(1,955,626) (51,802) - - (2,007,428)
188,755 1,363 - {1,337) 188,781
{117,047) (8,925) - - (125,972)
{97,036) {6,499) (77) 1,337 (102,275)
{29,666) - (29,666)
(99,399} (17) - - (99,416}
(176,745) {18,609) {38) - {195,392)
2,831 20 12 - 2,863
(68,507) (10,616) - - (79,123)
27,368 - - - 27,368
148,402 30,159 309 - 178,870
- {3,703) - - {3,703)
148,402 26,456 309 - 175,167
4,725,249 408,724 20,530 {29,838) 5,124,666
3,341,524 307,047 13,970 (7,503} 3,655,038
112,903 - - - 112,903
(58,822) - - - (58,822)
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37 OPERATING SEGMENT (continued)
Oil based Gas based
assets and assets and
revenues revenues Others  Eliminations Total
31 December 2020 BD '000 BD'000  BD ‘000 BD '000 BD '000
Sales 1,557,599 85,482 332 - 1,643,413
Cost of materials {1,201,766}) (37,674) - - (1,239,440
Other incorme 136,781 1,791 - {1,781} 136,791
Staff costs (104,380) (7,165} 1 - (111,544)
Maintenance and other expenses (99,741) (4,403} (68) 1,781 (102,431)
impairment for doubtful trade
and other receivables {1,848) - - - (1,848}
Other expenses (119,639) {105) - - {119,744}
Depreciation {175,408) (18.635) (38) - (194,081}
Finance income 3.871 322 26 - 4219
Finance costs {53,430) {9,192) (3) - (62,625}
Share of profit from associates (57) - - - (57)
Profit before income tax {58,018} 10,421 250 - (47,347)
Income tax expense - (1,629) - - (1,629)
Net profit for the period (58,018) 8,792 250 - {48,976)
Segment assets 3,736,517 339,176 14,776 {34,705) 4,055,764
Segment liabilities 2,571,933 266,300 13,139 (12,259} 2,839,113
As at 31 December 2020
Other disclosures
Investment in associates
and joint venture 90,885 - - - 90,885
Impairment for doubtful trade
and other receivables (29,212) - - - {29,212)

Geographic information

The operations and all of the assets of the Group are located in only one geographic location, Kingdom of Bahrain.
The revenue of the Group comprise of both local and international sales which are global and net concentrated to a
specific country. None of the revenue from single customer exceeded 10% of the Group's consolidated revenue.
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38 COVID-19 IMPACT AND EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
381 COVID-19 IMPACT

The COVID-19 pandemic has developed rapidly, with a significant number of cases. Measures taken by
various governments to contain the virus have affected economic activity. The Group has taken a number of
measures to monitor and mitigale the effects of COVID-19, such as safety and health measures for people
{such as social distancing and working from home) and securing the supply of materials that are essential to
our production process. At this stage, the impact on the Group's business and results has not been significant.
Given that the situation of the COVID-19 pandemic is uncertain and is still evoiving, the management will
continue to follow the various government policies and advice and, in parallel, the management will do its
utmost to continue operations in the best and safest way possible without jeopardising the health of the
Group’s employees,

Governments and central banks across the world have responded with monetary and fiscal interventions to
stabilise economic conditions. The Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain announced various economic
stimulus programmes ("Packages”) to support businesses in these challenging times. The Group has received
certain benefits from these packages mainly in the form of partial waiver of Electricity and Water Authority utility
bills, reimbursement of salaries of national employees from the Unemployment Fund and exemption of
government-owned industrial rental fees for three months from April 2020 to June 2020 (2021: None). The
financial impact of these Packages have been included as "Cther income”.

The management and the Board of Directors ("BOD") have been closely monitoring the potential impact of the
Covid-19 developments on the Group's operations and financial position; including impact on asset valuations,
review of onerous contracts and debt covenants etc. The Group has also put in place contingency measures,
which include but are not limited to enhancing and testing of business continuity plans including its liquidity
requirements. Furthermore, during 2021 crude oil prices have also shown a positive turnarcund as compared to
the prior years. Based on their overall assessment, the BOD is of the view that the Group will continue as a
going concern entity for the next 12 months from the date of these consolidated financial statements.

38.2 EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 30 Seplember 2021, nogaholding and Bapco signed a Sale and Purchase Deed (the “Agreement™ with
Neste Bahrain W.L.L. {"Neste”) for the transfer of Neste's 45% shareholding in BLBOC, among other items, to
nogaholding. On 22 March 2022, “Completion® as provided for under the Agreement took place and Neste's
shareholding, among other items, were transferred 1o nogaholding.

Nogaholding has entered into a new facility which is a dual tranche (conventional and islamic) facility. This
facility has a potential to increase from US$ 1,600 million to US$ 2,200 million. Currently the drawn down
amount remains at US$ 1,600 million. Full principal amount is payable as a bullet payment on 20 September
2026 at a profit rate of 2.1% plus credit adjusted and overnight SOFR. The new facility was used settle the
existing Murabaha Shari'a compliant Islamic facilities entered into on 25 September 2019 and amended and
restated by a master amendment and restatement deed dated 11 July 2021 with a consortium of banks through
Guif International Bank (B.S.C.), acting as an agent.
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